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ist

The high today was thirty-five. There was a little fog at
times.

Last night, after I went to bed, Mike went out and tried to
pull the short half-inch pipe out of the three-quarter-inch pipe.
It wouldn‘t come out, but it broke in two. No water came out.
Since the distance from the end of the pipe to the building was
so short, he covered the end with gunnysacks and poured hot water
on them. To his surprise the ice in the pipe came spurting out
followed by good stream of water. Thus the problem of getting rid
of the water in the back is solved for the time being.

Mike has been working at shoring up the back room.

He walked down for the mail, and at the mailbox he met the
two hikers. They had just come down off the mountain. They said
that up there it was a beautiful sunny day. They got up as far as
Wild Horse Lake.

I walked down to the head of the lower draw, and found that
the road wasn‘t much improved from Saturday. Several Storkbills
looked none the worse for the fifteen degree temperature last
night.

The little snow birds came back today.

Tonight we transferred some apples from wooden boxes to
cardboard ones. We will take them to Burns, and leave them at the

Senior Center.
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I would rather wait until the weather was warmer, but Mike
is anxious to restock groceries. The eggs are down to less than
one dozen.

Monday I started using milk in cooking, and had milk with my
cereal. There was no sign of muscle cramps that night. Yesterday
I continued using milk, but last night muscle cramps showed up. I
took three 400 iu capsules of Vitamin E which stove off any more
cramps.
2nd

We took off for Burns around nine this morning. At the
county road we changed the wheels with chains for wheels without
chains. It was nine-fifteen when we headed out on the county
road.

The road was rough with ruts and many potholes. On the
highway the pavement was bare all the way to Burns. The weather
was cool and clear.

At Burns we went first to the Senior Center where we deliv-
ered the apples. A woman in the kitchen weight the apples. They
weight sixty-five pounds. She told me to go to the front office
to sign a paper saying that I donated the apples.

In the front office I found a woman going through a ledger,

apparently doing some bookkeeping I walked across the large room,
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and as I came closer, said, "Hello." She looked up. I said, ¥I
brought some apples in for the center. The girl in the kitchen
weighed them, and said that I should come to this office and sign
a paper to show that I donated them.¥

She said, "Oh, yes. Here is the paper right here. Just sign
on this line.®

The place for the signature was in the center of the paper.
There were blank spaces on each side. There was a row of names
down the center. I said, "The apples weighed sixty-five pounds.¥®

While I was signing she said, "We’ll put the date and what
was donated opposite your name.®

She saw my name, and her face 1lit up with a smile. She said,
"Oh. You are from the mine on the Steens. My two daughters visit-
ed you last summer.¥

From the Center we drove to the bank. From there we headed
for the Safeway store, and on the way we stopped at the Chevron
station for gas. The attendant spotted a hole in the right-hand
headlight. He had a new one in stock, and offered it installed
for six dollars and twenty-five cents. I told him to go ahead. It
didn‘t take him long.

We did the shopping at Safeway, then drove to the library

where I had my radio license copied. The renewal date is in May.
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We got back to the foot of the hill and changed wheels
before dark. We made it all the way to the dugout without spin-
ning out.
4th

The high yesterday was forty-three. It was calm and sunny
most of the day.

Julie called from the Fields store to tell us that a UPS
package had been left there for us. She was sending it up to us
by some people coming this way.

Mike walked down with the pack board for the mail. There
were two packages in the box each one had two tarps in it. He
brought one package up, and left the other one down there.

The temperature got up to thirty-eight today.

Mike walked down for the other package this morning while
the ground was still frozen. He should have gone earlier, because
the road became muddy before he got back.

I made a batch of cookies using less shortening and more
flour. I got the dough a little on the thick side, but they were
all right.

The water in the dam is rising. We will need to splice a
pipe onto the outlet in order to siphon it out faster.

5th
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This morning John Scharff called to tell us that he saw the
article in the Oregonian about us. He wanted to congratulate us .
I told him we hadn’t seen it, and thanked him for letting us
know. He said the article was well done with many good pictures.
He said, "You’ll have to wear a white shirt all the time now to
be ready for visitors.®

Later in the day Dorathy Womac called to say that they saw
our picture in the Oregonian. "We haven‘t read it all yet. We
just got back from church and opened the paper, and were sur-
prised to see the article.®

I said, "They could have gotten a lot of good pictures of
the scenery around here without having us in it.®

She said, "Your pictures didn‘t hurt the scenery at all.®

On the Oregon Emergency Net several hams remarked about the
article. Frank gave a QST to inform the members about it. He
said, "If you don‘t have the Oregonian try to get a hold of one.
It’s a good article.®

I walked down to the county road while the ground was fro-
zen. I wore my Nikes and made the round trip in one hour and ten
minutes.

There was a heavy fog all day, and it is still out there now
at ten ofclock. There was no wind, and the high today was twenty-

five degrees.
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I phoned George and told him about the article. He said he
would call Bob in Portland to be sure to buy a paper for him.

Yesterday it was warm enough down there to take a dip in the
pool, but today the temperature was down to sixty. Lois is still
suffering with leg problems. She keeps hot pads on them and stays
off her feet as much as possible.

After talking with George I checked the dam in the tunnel.
The water was nearly over the top of it. We went down in the
garden and dug a plastic pipe out of the snow and hooked it up to
the outlet pipe. The end of this section of pipe reached below
the apricot tree. This brought the water far enough down to make
a strong siphon. It pulled the water out of the dam as fast as it
came in.

Around eight-thirty I began to feel cold in the fifty-nine
degree temperature that came about because there was no fire in
the stove. To get warm, I made some cookies using the electric
mixer to speed up the mixing, thus they were done in thirty
minutes. I warmed up fine.
6th

The temperature got down to seventeen degrees last night,
and up to forty—-three today.

I was in hopes the night time temperatures would be going
up, and was disappointed that they were going down. However, the

warmer temperature today was encouraging.
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Last night Vance, W7VIF, contacted me on the Civil Emergency
Net. We talked quite a while. Then Mac, WTCOD, broke in. He
wondered if I ever heard from Channel two in Portland. They told
him to write them another letter about our place here. He wrote
them a letter and never got an answer back.

I told him about NBC coming out and taking pictures. The
timing for Channel two seemed to be off.

This morning there were several stations that commented on
the article in the paper. One station W7MEV, in Grants Pass asked
the net what my call letters were. He couldn‘t find them in the
article. Herb gave him my letters. Then someone wanted to know
what kind of power I used to run my rig. Vance said, ¥Let’s call
Jim and get the answers first hand.

He called me, and 1 answered right away, making the excuse
that I wasn‘t near the rig when I heard them talking about the
article and asking questions. I told them about the power and how
we pay for the line, it being included in our electric bill.

Tonight someone on the coast said that he enjoyed the piece
in the paper. I said, "I‘m glad you enjoyed it. I haven‘t seen it
yet.®

He said, "I‘d better get busy and send you a copy.¥

This morning Mike was ready to change the connector on the

pipeline from the pond in the water tunnel. To do this he pulled
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the end of the line out of the pond so that no water would be
coming through while we made the switch. By applying heat from
the range-hot plate to the connectors we managed to get them onto
the pipe.

The water didn‘t start running through the pipe until we
opened the connection just outside the building. Even then it ran
only in a trickle. We put the pipe back together hoping the water
would continue on down the pipe and start a siphon going. Water
did come out at the lower end. But the flow didn‘t increase.

We brought the end up above the bank leaving a loop on the
garden-side of the fence. Using a funnel we poured water from a
bucket into the pipe. It was a slow process, but one bucketful of
water seemed to f£ill the pipe. Mike made a wooden plug to fit in
the end. This kept the water from running out while we were
moving the end down into the garden. Mike went into the garden,
and I handed him the pipe.

When he removed the plug the water in the pipe ran out
making a siphon that pulied out the airlocks. The water in the
dam began to lower.

The songbirds were gone yesterday during the heavy fog that
hung around all day. They must have gone up above the fog where

the sun shown on the southern slopes.
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7th

This morning I took a jog down the hill wearing my Nikes
while the ground was still frozen.

Today I made biscuits out of all white flour, using the
mixer. They turned out all right, but different than the ones I
used to make by hand. I used vinegar and soda instead of baking
powder.

This afternoon I made a round trip to the lower draw with my
overshoes on. They feel heavy on my feet after wearing only the
Nikes. The road is getting firm in places, and there are other
places where the snow covers the whole road. Where the new spring
appeared in the road the ground is firmer than I thought it could
be with so much water.

There was no fog today, but the sun shown dimly through a
thin-cloud cover.

Mike cut a supply of sagebrush large enough to make us feel
that we could afford a fire in stove this evening. Thus we had
the temperature in here up to sixty-two degrees.

I talked with Ellis on the radio tonight. He started out
from near Death Valley, and was driving straight through to
Hines. He expected to be home by ten o‘clock.

8th



February 1984, 10

There was heavy fog this morning. I called Hair’s. Lavina
answered. The fog extended to their place and beyond. They still
have some snow on the ground. I also called Stella. There is fog
there too. She said that Nellie is a changed person since she
has the trailer house to live in. She thought that Nellie could-
n‘t have lived through the winter if she had continued to live in
the house with Pat and all the cats and dogs.
9th

At noon I took a short hike down the road wearing the over-
shoes because the road was wet.

Mike cut sagebrush again. We use it up as fast as he brings
it in.

I made biscuits today, using the mixer. I doubled the amount
of soda and vinegar. The texture was the same as before I doubled
the amount.

I phoned Dora tonight. She has been having trouble with a
lump on her neck. The doctor gave her some medicine for it. The
medicine helped, and also helped cure a sore finger. The finger
had been sore and inflamed for a long time.
10th

There was a light fall of snow last night, and again this
morning. A strong wind made the walk down the hill and back cold

and difficult.

10
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There were no copies of the N.W. Magazine in the maili. I
called Robert Collins, and toid hinm we were getting reports on
the magazine, but we haven’t seen it yet.

He said, "I‘1l send you a couple copies.’

I said, ¥Could you make it four?¥®

He said, "Yes. I can do that." He said that the Nike Company
were interested in using the pictures in their adds.

There was another magazine, a national type, that had ac-
cepted the article for publication.

He said that they might be out this way some time, and
wanted to know if he could rent the cabin on the meadow, and how
much.

I said, ¥You can use it without rent.®

1 got a letter from a woman in Washington, telling how much
she enjoyed the article. She didn‘t have our address, but sent it
to Jim and Mike Weston, Alvord Lake Road, Crane, Or.
11th

I baked whole-wheat biscuits, and fried a chicken today. In
the biscuits I used one and a hailf cups of whole-wheat flour to
one cup of white flour, two eggs instead of the usual one, two
teaspoons of soda with two tablespoons of vinegar. The came less
crumbly than before.

There was sprinkies of snow all day, and heavy winds at

times.
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I took a short walk down the road this afternoon, and found

that there was enough snow on the soft ground to keep the mud
from sticking to my shoes.

George called. He said that he received the Oregonian, and
that the article was well done. He liked it a lot. Besides the
pictures there was quite a bit of written material. He said it
gave our life history from the time we were born.

Carolee must have given Tom quite a bit of information.

Well, we’ll see what‘s in it next week.

That hike down the hill yesterday left its mark on me when I
went to bed. The cold wind had chilled my throat so badly I
thought I was coming down with a cold. It was almost time to get
up before I felt comfortabile.

The next time I have to walk against a cold wind, I’11 make
sure I have something to protect my neck and throat.
12th

There was a light covering of snow on the ground this morn-
ing. It was snowing when I came over to the dugout. By ten o’-
clock the snow had turned to a light rain. The high today was
forty-seven, the same as it was last year on this date.

It quit raining by eleven o‘clock. In the afternoon the snow
melted fast. I walked down the road wearing the rain jacket with
the hood up, because the wind was blowing hard and I thought the

temperature would be colder.

12
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Where the power line crosses the road, I saw a man and a
woman walking up the hill toward me. A large dog came up a head
of them, and a small pup tagged along behind.

When we met, I asked them, "Where you headed for?¥%

"We‘re just out for a walk." Dianne was from Corvallis, and
Jim was from Pocotello.

We talked for a while. They had just driven up from Fields,
and their pickup was parked down by the mailbox. Coming up the
county road it was so muddy he had to put the truck into four-
wheel drive.

The little-black-haired puppy began whimpering. The girl
said that he was tired and wanted to go back to the truck. To me
he looked and acted cold. The wet snow and cold wind must have
been something he wasn‘t used to.

I said, "I’11 walk down the hill a ways with you. I‘m out
for a walk too.¥

They’ve been coming over into this area since 1978. At the
head of the lower draw, I bid them goodbye, and told them to come
up some time in the summer. It would be better than in the winter
because the roads would be dry.

I made biscuits today, and cooked squash, red beats, and

carrots.

i3



February, 1984 14

The little snow birds were around at times, and at other
times none could be seen. One lone Robin sat in a plum tree for a
while.

Ellis gave me a one ringer this morning. I called for him on
thirty-nine eighty, and he answered right away. Yesterday he was
talking with the manager of the Burns Times Herald about the
article in the Oregonian. She handles the sales of that paper in
Burns. There are always some that don‘t sell. Out of those she
saved the North West Magazine Illustrated, so Ellis has sixteen
to give us.

He has sent copies to his two boys, and one to Shirley. He
said that one item in the article would interest her. It was
story I told about a teacher from California who sat outside at
night in the cold watching for meteors.
13th

The high yesterday was forty-seven, and it was forty-one
when I got up this morning. There was a strong wind all day.

Around noon Mike from the Alvord Ranch came up with two
friends. They wanted to know how much we wanted for the Chevro-
lette out at the point. They needed an o0ld car to fix up as a
project at school. Mike told them that he was once offered five-
hundred dollars for it. It‘s in the category of classics. They
didn‘t have that much money. They decided to go over to Henry

Blair‘s to see if they could find one there.

14
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When they were driving up, their wheels spun out down at the
curve below the point. In backing up to get a second start, they
got off the road into the mud. They said that they had a hard
time getting back onto the gravel.

After they left I walked down the hill to see how they made
out. In backing up they got off the road several times, first one
side and then the other. They turned around just after the first-
Indian Creek turnoff.

When Mike started down to get the mail, it was sprinkling
lightly. I had told him earlier that he should wear the rain
jacket. When he saw it was sprinkling, he decided to wear it.

It was a good thing he did because on his way back, it began
to rain in earnest, and by the time he got halfway back, the rain
turned to snow. Bucking the strong wind with snow made the going
slower. He said he was plenty warm, and had plenty of go power
even after he reached the point. He was soaked from the bottom of
the rain jacket on down.

Still no North West Magazine with the article. We got a
letter from a man in Myrtle Creek. He sent us a package of pea
seed, and another of spinach. He said that we reminded of his
father and uncle who had mined for gold.

He addressed the letter to us thus:- Mike & Jim Weston,

Mosquito Creek - Alvord Desert Area. % Crane Post Office.

15
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It quit snowing at five-thirty. There was only seventeen
hundredths of an inch of precipitation.

I got a letter ready to mail to the F.C.C. in Portland
asking for the #610 form.
i4th

The rain yesterday evening froze into a sheet of ice all
over everything. On my way over to my bedroom I slipped down
once, much surprised, nothing hurt.

The temperature got down to twenty-six last night, and only
up to thirty-five for a short time today. I had hoped for a few
warm days.

I made drop cookies this morning, adding chopped raisins to
the basic recipe. They were very good.

I walked down to the top of the hill above the gate. I wore
the big coat without a jacket under it. The hood felt good,
keeping my head shielded from the cold wind. The ice from last
night hadn‘t melted much on the way to the point, but on down the
hill water was running in the wheel tracks, and the road bed was
soft.

Coming back up I stopped to rest several times, and removed
the hood from my head to cool off.

Mike cut quite a bit of sagebrush, and we kept a fire going

all day. The temperature in here got up to sixty-two.

16
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I talked with Ellis on the radio tonight. Also spoke with
Betty, W7CPV.

WA7GBX, Bill the net control on the first net, said that he
enjoyed the article in the North West Magazine.
i5th

There was two inches of new snow this morning. The low last
night was twenty-six, the high today was forty, and at six o’-
clock tonight it was thirty-eight. The warmer temperatures seemed
good.

I walked down to the hill above the gate as far as the
tractor road. I didn‘t wear the big coat.

I fried a chicken today, and made another batch of drop
cookies with chopped raisins. The first batch went fast, and it
was I who ate the most of them.

We received four letters from people who read the article
in the North West Magazine. That makes six. Then Margaret sent us
a letter telling us about reading it. That makes seven.

Concerning the cracks in the ends of my fingers. They seen
to appear for no reason at all, then again they are gone for no
reason at all. All that use of sandpaper to thin down the thick
skin, and all that use of medication may have helped to get rid
of them. Now I cant see how the lack of some nutrient could have
been the cause of them. Right now my fingers are smooth without

cracks.

17
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The last spell of hip, back, and trouble at the sight of the
hernia operation gradually got better, and is giving no more
trouble. The one pain tablet that I took did some good that
night, but a tablet the next night seemed not to help at all.
However, after that the troubles gradually eased up.

We haven‘t yet received any copies of the article.
le6th

It was cold and snowing this morning with high winds. The
snow drifted so much I couldn’t find a place to make a good
measurement. The rain gauge showed a precipitation of only three
hundredths of an inch. Most of the snow must have blown passed
the top of the rain gauge.

I didn‘t walk down the hill, but did walk out to the point.

I spent a lot of time on the phone using an eight-hundred
number to find out if the chemical companies I wanted to contact
had an eight hundred number. I wanted to find out the price of
reagent quality mercury. I tried several companies, and finally
got a price.
18th

Yesterday the phone was out of order. There was a sound on
the line like an arc to ground.

I had intended to call a chemical company in Nevada to find
out how large a sample of mercury was needed to make an analysis

of the mercury. I was disappointed not to be able to call.
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This morning I found that I could call the operator to
report the trouble. She said that she couldn‘t hear me good
because of the noise on the line. I said, "That’s what I‘m call-
ing about. I want to report the trouble to the repair department®

She said, "I‘11 call you back to see if we can get a better
line."™ When she called back, the same noise was there.

She said, "I’11l notify the repair service for you.¥

Later George called, and I was surprised we could hear each
other at all. Lois is still having trouble with her legs and
back.

I told him about the possibility selling mercury at $50 a
pound.

The temperature last night got down to seventeen, and it was
twenty-two at eight o‘clock this morning. The high today was
thirty-eight for a short time.

Before eating breakfast I took a hike down the hill passed
the power line. I felt like I needed the workout. This afternoon
I made another trip just for good measure.

I baked a batch of cookies, and two loaves of stone-ground-
flour bread.

We planned to put the mercury through an acid bath. We
started looking for the glass tube which we both thought would be

in the cardboard cylinder that it came in from Charlie. It wasn‘t
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in it, and we wondered why we hadn‘t put it back in when we put
it away.

We looked a long time for it. Finally we found it hanging
above the tool shelf. Then we knew why we hadn’t put it in the
tube. It was still fastened to the board that had held it to the
outside wall of the furnace room.

All this time we had been using the board as a shelf to put
things on, and had covered up the glass tube with paper sacks,
and numerous items not used often.
19th

The low last night was sixteen, and the high today forty-
one. Even with the lower temperature at night, the daytime tem-
perature is higher.

Most winters we looked for warm spells, and got them. This
winter we had a couple that didn‘t last long.

Mike has the glass tube in place ready to fill with the acid
water to wash the mercury. That job shouldn’t take long.

I walked down to the hill above the mailbox. It was a nice
walk in the sunshine and no wind.

The temperature in here only got up to sixty today. The wet
sagebrush doesn’t make a hot fire. I should hook up the old oven
element to keep it warmer in here.

20th

20
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After overcoming some difficulties with leaking connections,
I got the job of cleaning the mercury done. By this evening I had
run the mercury through the acid bath one time.

Today the temperature only got up to thirty-five, but the
snow melted faster than it has since last month.

Mike gathered more sagebrush, working hard most of the day.

Tonight he turned the ozone maker on, because of a develop—
ing cold and cough. I plugged in the oven element to warm the
place up better. I think it has been too cold in here for healthy
iiving.

I called the Alvord Ranch to tell Mike Davis that there were
only two chrome out at the point. Loni answered the phone. Mike
was out helping with the cattle. They were busy with the sheep
lambing.

She had never heard that if the water got high enough on the
desert it would, it would flow out by the Mickey Hot Springs. She
would ask the boys if there was any water over that way now.

There none of that noise on the phone like we have had since
Friday. Maybe 1711 be able to phone the Geological Chemistry
Corporation tomorrow.

There was no mail today because of Washington’s birthday.

21st

21
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It was stormy all day with a wet snow, and high winds. Mike
said that he would go down for the mail tomorrow, and get today‘s
mail and tomorrow’s mail all in one trip.

I°1li go down in the morning and get only today‘’s mail.
Thursday morning 111 get tomorrow’s mail.

I ran the mercury through the acid bath for the second time.
Now I711 run it through a bath of distilled water to rinse out
the acid.

The pipe that drains the water from the back tunnel lost its
prime today. I discovered it late tonight. I wouldn‘t let Mike
help reprime the pipe, because I thought that being out in the
cold would make his cough worse.

It took three tries to get the thing primed. The first time
I hung the end of the pipe on the fence, and filled it from the
upper side of the fence. I neglected to bring a plug with me, so
had to let the pipe drop down below the fence, while I went back
up the fill and around through the garden gate, and then move the
end of the pipe farther down the hill. There wasn‘t enough water
in the pipe to pull out the airlocks.

Next I tried filling the pipe below the fence. Thus when it
was full I was already in position to move the end of the pipe
down the hill as far as it would go. This time I had a plug to

hold the water from running out before the end of the pipe was in

22
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position. It didn‘t work so I decided to bring the end of the
pipe to the top of the fili.

I had to maneuver on that rough steep fill covered with a
crust of snow. It was tricky climbing around with a bucket of
water, a flashlight, a dipper, and a funnel.

After climbing down to the fence, and lugging the end of the
pipe to the top of the fill, I tied the end to a tree 1limb. Using
the funnel and the dipper I managed to fill the pipe almost to
the top. With the bucket empty I thought I should get some more
water. It was getting late, and I decided to try with what was in
the pipe.

I pushed the plug in tight, and got the pipe almost to the
chicken house. When I was about to pull the plug, it popped out
like a cork. Water came gushing out. It would stop occasionally
while air came out. Finally there was a steady flow of water.
22nd

When I got up this morning, the temperature was twenty-six.
At the weather station it was twenty-two. Usually there is a ten
degree difference, but wind during the night must have circulated
considerable air through the window.

There wasn‘t much wind this morning. The sun came out
bright. Still the temperature only got up to thirty-four.

I wrote a letter to a man who wanted to buy triple dis-

tilled mercury for resale to dentists back east.
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1 walked down to the mailbox around noon. There was no copy
of the article.

This afternoon I cleaned the mercury cleaning apparatus, and
ran the mercury through distilled water. Now it is ready for
bottling for sale.

Lavina called today saying she wanted to check on how we
were doing. Carl and Beryl were doing a lot of welding on a
manure spreader.

She said that Stella was ninety years old last spring.

We received a letter from Hawthorne. Their daughter sent
them a copy of the article. Jean said that it was very good.

He sent a package of cactus seed. That makes four packages
of seed from people who have read the article, peas, spinach,
tobacco, and now cactus.
23ra

This morning I left at ten-thirty to go to the mailbox. The
sky was almost completely overcast. There was no wind and the
ground was frozen. I figured I could walk back up before the
ground thawed out. But while I was taking the mail out of the
box, Carl Hair drove over from the hot spring. He stopped to
talk. Then Bill and his coworker came from the north, and stopped

to say hello.
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We discussed the road conditions, the fiooding, and where
the excess water would flow when it got higher. We thought it
would run out passed Mickey Hot Springs, and on into the Snake
River. We all agreed that it seemed to be going the wrong way. It
would be closer to the ocean to go south. As it is it flows north
a long way before it reaches the Snake, and the Snake goes north
some more.

Bill said that he had solved the problem of too much water
at the cattle guard. The water coming down the lower draw used to
fiow to the road on the other side of the ridge. Somehow it had
made a new course on the other side of the ridge. Bill and his
partner saw what had happened, and used the big grader to open
the channel back the other way. Now the water can go under the
road through a large culvert.

Thus time went by, and the ground was soft when I hiked back
up.

In the mail there were no copies of the N.W. Magazine.

The phone is still out of order because of the noise on
the line.

I can hear, but it is hard to tell what the other party is
saying, and they would keep asking what I said.

So I‘m unable to call the Geochemical Company to find out
how large a sample was needed for a test on the quality of the

mercury.
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1 again called the operator and asked for repair service.
The first operator couldn‘t understand me. The second operator
said she would report the trouble.

I feel like I‘m coming down with a cold.
24th

It was overcast this morning, and almost calm. Around eight
o‘clock there was a small snow shower with some snow sticking,
but it soon melted away. The high today was thirty-seven.

I found that the phone was working, so had a chance to
locate a metallurgical laboratory that could make an analyses of
our mercury.

Mike thinks it would be cheaper to just run the mercury
through triple distillation, and not put an analytical I test on
it.

I think I’11 send in a sample anyway. It would be good to
see how this mercury stacks up.

Concerning the process of finding the laboratory:- I first
called the 800 number for information on who has 800 numbers. The
Rocky Mountain Geochemical Corporation, didn‘t have an 800
number, but I called them anyway. They said that they made analy-
sis only on ores. I could call the Bureau of Mines at the Nevada
State College who would give the name of a place that could

analyze the mercury.
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I called them. They had a iong list of places. I asked for
the name of one, and got one in San Francisco, and their phone
number. They didn‘t have an 800 number.

Thus I made three long distance calls. They need 3/4 of a
pound, and it would cost sixty dollars.

Today I removed the glass tube and its support board from
the post, and put them out in the furnace room.
25th

During the night high wind and drifting snow could be heard
around my bedroom. Snow came through the window to the left of my
bed. I could feel sprinklings of it on my face at times.

When I went over to the dugout, it took me about half an
hour to shovel out the snow that had drifted in front of the
door. After I got in, every fifteen minutes I would open the
door, go outside, and shovel away the new accumulation of drifted

snow. If we let it go too long, we wouldn‘t be able to open the

~door.

By ten-thirty the wind and snow sliacked off, and the temper-
ature began to melt the snow, so there was no more piling up in
front of the door.

George called this morning. He said he talked with Sam and
found that they were out of power only half an hour during the

outage from the slide that destroyed the power plant on the
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Feather River. Other places near by were out of power for as much
as twelve hours.

He called up the Oregonian asking for some copies of the
N.W. Magazine. They told him it would cost two dollars each for
shipping them. He wrote them a letter saying that he wanted six
copies for which he enclosed a check for twelve dollars. He told
them what a good job the writer and the photographer did. He said
in the letter, "I want the copies because those two are my kid
brothers.®

They sent him seven copies along with his letter on which
they wrote, "Your check wasn’t enclosed. We are sending you these
seven copies, and we don‘t want your check.®

George has been doing some work with a rake smoothing off a
piece of ground making it ready to lay pieces of sod on it.
That‘’s the way they make a lawn out of special grass.

When he got through raking, he went in and took a shower,
then lay down for a nap. When he woke up, and tried to sit up, he
could hardly move. His hip was lame. After three days he went to
a bone crusher who gave him a shot of cortisone. It may have
helped him, but he doesn‘t know. He got better nevertheless.

In regards to the pain that he has all the time:- The crush-

er asked him, "Do you have that pain all the time?¥%
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George told him that he did. The doctor said, "I didn‘t
know. I thought it was only occasionally. I‘1l1 make you an ap-
pointment with another osteopath. Maybe he can help you. He is
very good.®

George doesn‘t have any faith in their ability to help hin,
but he is willing to let them try.

The way the snow was drifted around the door, I was sure
there would be bug drifts down the road, so I didn’t try to drive
down for the mail. This afternoon I walked out to the point and
part way down the first steep grade. The snow wasn’t bad at all.
A lot of it had already melted off.

It is cold tonight, so I‘m sure I can drive down on frozen
ground in the morning.

Mike’s cough is a little better. Mine isn‘t getting either
better or worse.

Today I made syrup and hotcakes, even though I feit it
wasn‘t the best thing for me to eat. Well, I sure enjoyed them.
Nothing else that I‘ve been eating lately has given me such
pleasure. I told Mike, "I‘ve found the cure for my cold.¥®
26th

The low last night was twenty. Thus the ground was frozen

hard, putting the road in good shape for driving down to get the
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mail. I waited until nine o‘clock while the temperature warmed
somewhat before going out to start the motor of the pickup.

There was no copies of the N.W. Magazine in the mail. I
received the F.C.C. 610 form. It seemed like fast service, but on
looking at the mailing dates I saw that the letters each took a
week to reach their destination.

This morning Ellis contacted me on the radio. He wanted to
tell me about the fine baked apples that were served for desert
at the Senior Center. Mr. Night announced the names of the donors
of the apples, namely Mike and Jim.

While we were talking, I mentioned that we hadn’t received a
copy of the N.W. Magazine, and told him the way George had gotten
nine copies.

Later in the evening he called for me on the Oregon Emergen-
cy Net. He said that one of the Game Commission men was coming
down this way tomorrow to repair some guzzlers on the other side
of the desert from Andrews. He asked him to bring the copies of
the magazine that he has been holding for us down and leave them
in our mailbox.

I told him that we would go down Tuesday morning, and ex-
plained to him why we waited until the next day after the mail

came to pick it up.
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1 have a flask of mercury packed in a box ready to ship by
UPS to the place in San Francisco. If it wasn’t for this cold I
would go to Burns tomorrow. Maybe by Wednesday both Mike and I
will feel ilike making the trip.

Carl Thomas came up this morning. He was riding a smaller
motorcycle than he has been riding before.

He got the roof fixed on their house in Coos Bay. Oma‘s son-
in-law is going to buy the place. We phoned Oma to let her know
that Carl made it over here all right. Carl told her what a fine
sunny day it was, and that everything was ship shape with the
house at the edge of the desert.

I took two aspirin this afternoon, and two more at nine
tonight. I hope they will help me get rid of this cold.

I hung a laundry on the line outside today. All of it didn‘t
get dry before dark, so I brought it in, and will hang it up
again tomorrow.
28th

My cold was bothering me so much yesterday I couldn‘t settle
down to write anything in this account.

Two men from the Game Commission office came up yesterday
with a bundle of the N.W. Magazine sent down by Ellis.

Being out of sorts with the flu, I was a poor host.
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Last night when I went to bed, I got under the sleeping bag
and lay on top of the blankets with the electric blanket under
them. As a consequence I slept warmer and found that the spot
between my shoulders, which always seems to be cold, gave no
trouble at all. I felt better when I got up, but during the day
I had rough coughing speils, and a fever of 99.6 all day. This
was the worst day yet.

Mike drove down to get the mail before the frost went out of
the ground. He seems to be on the mend, and is able to do more
work.

The story in the magazine was written quite well. But Tom
didn‘t have the facts straight. He had Dad moving out here to
Oregon with the family including sister Mae. That made it easier
for him to tell how we got to Oregon.
29th

I felt even worse today. There’s a continual wheezing sound
in my bronchial tubes.

Early this morning Mike drove down to get the mail. He had
the days mixed up. He said, ¥There wasn’t any mail, and it looks
like the mail man never came by at all.."®

I checked the calendar to make sure I was right before I

said, "Yesterday was Tuesday. That‘s why there wasnt any mail.¥®
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Mike found some hex nuts to use on the bolts in place of the
wing nuts. A socket wrench could then be used.

When we attempted to put the tank back on, we found that the
wall had bulged inward, pressing a two-by-four against the tank.
The pressure was what had caused the seal to leak. By
trimming about an inch off the two-by, the tank went on okay. The
seal now held.

The pipeline feeding the water to the tank had another
problem. We didn’t have the proper washer for the plastic fitting
to the tank. We solved this problem by using a flat washer above
the regular steel fitting washer. The combination made a seal for
the connection.

Yesterday Carl brought up a couple of packages delivered by
UPS. One box had a 14 inch electric-chain saw. This morning we
spent an hour putting on the bar and chain. The design of the saw
made this chore a difficult one. I said to Mike, "It looks like
they think only of cutting down the cost of manufacturing at the
inconvenience of the user. This looks more like Black and Decker
piece of gear.™®

Mike had purchased this McCullock thinking that it would be
a good piece of equipment. He has been disappointed so many
times with Black and Decker tools, he makes sure he doesn‘t buy

any more.
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On the packing box, in an inconspicuous place, a short line
says, "McCullock is a trade mark belonging to Black and Decker.¥
That was a shocker.

I didn’t take any Vitamin-E last night, and I had no leg
cramps. The rainwater did the trick.
16th

This morning the ground was white with snow from .07 inches
of precipitation. The low last night was 30. and the high today
was 48.

At noon Mike drove the little pickup down to the head of the
lower draw, then drove the big pickup over to the gravel pit for
a load of gravel to put in the sump hole.

I threw out all the winter squash, and mopped the floor.
Another day of cleaning will put the place in a more livable
condition.

Tonight it started raining around eight-thirty. I put out a
five-gallon can to catch rainwater from the roof of the ore bin.
I brought it in full at ten-thirty. I then put out another five-
gallon can, and will bring it in before I go to bed.

I wrote a letter to Arlis Bynum who was the first to write
us after the story in the magazine.

Mike tried out the chain saw this morning. It worked fine.
He thinks it is better than the first saw which is a twelve-inch

one. This one is fourteen inches.
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I have a tendency to feel depressed from the way things are
deteriorating:- The bottom of the shaft full of water, the tram-
way partly destroyed, the glory hole opening up in the east
tunnel, now a big cave in in the south tunnel.

This last glory hole is huge, and we were lucky to have
enough lumber to build a frame to hold the tarps over the hole.
Mike ordered the tarps several months ago, and they have been on
hand for a couple of months now.

With the collapse of the tunnel, cracks appeared in the
bathroom ceiling, the cold room door jammed, the toilet bowl
sprang a leak.

A spring has come in the road, making it unpassable.

Altogether there is more work to be done, to get things into
shape, than we can ever do. Even when we were at out best we
couldn‘t have accomplished all that needs doing now.
17th

This morning there was about one-half inch of new snow on
the ground from fifteen hundredths inches of precipitation.

The first thing wrong that I noticed was that the tarp was
being blown up out of place around the top and both sides of the
frame.

I went up to see what could be done about weighting it down
again. I discovered that the ground had gaved in all the way to

the antenna pole. This accounted for the loose tarp.
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After breakfast we decided that the first thing to do was to
take the antenna pole down, or to try to move the upper section
to another place while it was standing up. We would have to put
guy wires on it first. After that we could pull up the juniper
post that held the upper section in place.

However, another chore presented itself. We would need the
hemp rope which was being used to hold the planks in place on top
of the tarp. Mike cut some two-by-twos to the right length to
hold the planks spaced properly. Then we removed the hemp rope
from each plank as we put the blocking into place.

Thereafter I crawled up from the dugout on the caved in
dirt, and spent an hour freeing the coax cable which had become
covered with a big pile of the earth.

Meanwhile Mike prepared a plank, and layed it on the tarp
along the west side.

It was now after noon. The weather was like a blizzard with
high winds and hail.

Mike said, "Do you think the antenna will stand up another
day? It’s too cold to work outside."

I said, %"oh, yes. Maybe the weather will be better
tomorrow. ™

After lunch Mike worked on the door of the cold room, put-

ting seals around the edge.
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18th

The low last night was 29, and the high today was 51. The
day was mostly sunny. Mike worked on the shoring to be put on the
side walls of the tunnel that caved in. He will put a beam across
the tunnel to hold the shoring, and put pressure on them to
prevent more from coming down.

I wheeled out dirt most of the day, then worked on the
electrical junction box that I had removed, the one that Mike
thought was the outlet for the power going to the refrigerator.

It was an onerous job, but I got the wires disconnected, and
the back together. The only other wire from the box went to a
light switch.

At news time Mike pushed the switch to turn on the TV
nothing happened, then we found that the wires I had disconnected
didn’t go to the refrigerator, but to the TV. I used a plug-in
jumper to put power to the TV.

Now we have no idea where the line to the refrigerator is
connected. I will look some more to find the line.

Carl came up this afternoon, and called Oma on the phone. He
told her how good the weather out here was. It was raining in
Coos Bay as usual.

In order not to be come depressed, I look at the amount of
work ahead as a challenge. I cant see that it raises my spirits

much, though.
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On the Beaver State Net tonight Alice said that she received
the wedding invitation. "I presume you got one too.¥

I said, "No, not yet, but I know the date.¥®

I heard chukars near by today.
19th

The low last night was 37. The high was 58. There was very
littlie wind, and mostly sunshine.

Carl came up on his bike early saying that he would heip
Mike haul gravel to fill the sump and get the truck across it.

While they were gone I climbed up into the cave-in and
pulled the piece of shoring out of the hole near the antenna
pole. I was afraid more dirt would fall in and cover it up.

I then carried the other piece of shoring, that Mike had
left by the closet door, up and placed it beside the first one.
After that I placed a two-by-four between the ground and the top
of the door, then used it to climb up on top of the door where I
was able to staple the plastic sheet that had fallen down back up
to the wall. Thus covering the holes in the wall that were let-
ting the warm air out.

I ran a couple of sheets, a pillow case, and a towel through
the washer, putting them through a cold water cycle first, then
the regular detergent wash with warm water. This procedure makes
for a cleaner wash. Some kinds of dirt seems to become set when

the detergent is used at the start, especially oil.
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When I had some vegetables out to get ready to cook, and a
chicken thawing, Mike and Carl came in for a rest and a coffee
break. They brought both trucks up, having gotten enough gravel
in the sump hole to allow the big truck to come across.

It was too early for Carl to eat lunch, but he did have a
cup of coffee and a slice of toast. Mike ate a good lunch of some
food that was left over from breakfast.

They took off again at noon to get another load of gravel. I
took the laundry off the line, and put the chicken on to fry.

They came back around two~thirty. By then the chicken was
done. I didn‘t cook the onions, but fried the potatoes, and
warmed up the frozen corn and peas. Carl didn‘t eat much, and
headed down the hill for a bath in the hot springs.

Later when I was walking out to the point, planning to walk
down the road, I heard someone walking behind me. Looking around
I saw that it was one of the back packers that had gone up the
mountain with his skis.

I said, "By golly, you‘re back down. How was it up there?¥%

He said, "It was beautiful up there, but we came down a day
early. We didn‘t get all the way to Wild Horse Lake. There were
avalanches, so we decided to come back down.¥®

His partner was quite a ways behind. He said later that a

bad knee siowed him down.
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The first man saw that the trucks were up here and realized
the road must be open, and he could bring their pickup up to the
point. He started running down the road. I could see that it
wouldn‘t be long before he was back with the pickup. The older
man arrived soon after. He didn‘t have long to wait for the
pickup, and they were off down the hill to take a hot bath. |
20th

This first day of spring was the warmest day this year.
There was warm air and sunshine. Insects are coming out in full
force, and more birds have arrived. The low last night was forty,
and the high today was sixty-two. In fact this is the warmest day
since the thirtieth of October last year when it was sixty.

The cold-room door is out of kilter again. The hinge side of
the door frame is sinking down. Apparently an underground-water
course is on that side of the room. Two years ago water started
coming up in places where we hadn’t seen water before. This year
already the cellar water is running a three-quarter-inch pipe
full down to the lower—-garden fence. The ditch water runs a one-
half inch pipe full just as far. The three-quarter-inch pipe that
drains the water tunnel is full. Water is coming up in the tunnel
behind the back room. Of course those springs that came up in the

road last year are much wetter this year.
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While Mike was trimming on the cold room door so that it
could be opened and closed. I made some hotcakes for daytime
snacks. I washed the accumulated dirty dishes, and put five pairs
of pants through the washer.

Now 1 always put the clothes through a cold-water wash
without detergent. Then through a warm-water wash with detergent.
The clothes come out much cleaner this way. I used gentle action
with the pants, except on spin dry. Yesterday I did the same with
the sheets. It sure makes a difference.

Mike’s second project was to shore up the two sides of the
tunnel at one small area. He used two four foot by four foot
sheets of plywood, reinforced with two-by-fours one set on each
wall. He then put a beam across the tunnel between the two. By a
wedging action he got high pressure on the beamn.

I thought he would take a rest after that job, but the next
thing I knew he was loading old sagebrush onto the wheelbarrow.
The brush had been lying near the trailer house all winter.

He brought the wheelbarrow load down to the tin building,
and left it standing near the door. I didn’t see him anywhere,
but since I wanted to use the wheelbarrow to haul gravel to part
of the trail to the draw, I unloaded the brush, piling it on some
brush that was already in the tin building.

I brought the wheelbarrow back to the road where I could

load on gravel from the truck.
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I went into the dugout to get something. Mike came down from
the direction of the draw, and began scraping mud from his shoes.
He must have been checking on the dam. He came inside saying that
he was going to take a rest.

I went out intending to go get the truck, but I saw a vehi-
cle out at the point. At first I thought it was about to come to
the dugout by the upper road. I went in and told Mike that
someone was coming. Outside I looked for the vehicle, expecting
to see it come down around the curve. It was nowhere in sight.

I walked out to the point, and saw two people walking out
toward the cliff. I stopped at our pickup. They had a Volkswagen
Bus parked nearby.

They finally came toward their bus. I greeted them. They
were planning to hike up the mountain.

Later tonight I got one ioad of gravel over to the trail.
21st

I woke up during the night to feel snow swirling around my
face. I discovered that the wind had blown the door open. The
rugs on the floor were damp with snow, and felt cold on my bare
feet. I nailed the door shut with sixteen penny nails.

When I came over to the dugout, I saw the damage the wind

had done. It blew the TV antenna awry, and blew down my shortwave
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antenna. The planks holding the tarp had fallen out of place, and
the tarp was half off the cave in. Pieces of plywood were scat-
tered here and there. About halif an inch of snow covered the
ground, and snow was plastered against the window, against the
sides of the poles, and against the sides of the buildings.

Such was the duration of the spring weather of yesterday.

The couple at point said that they thought their bus would
blow over. They left this morning.

I spent most of the morning getting the wires of the antenna
untangled. I cut the short meter antenna away from the coax, and
recoupled the eighty meter antenna, and got it stretched tight,
using the broken piece of the tall horse to hold the end of the
coax about six feet off the ground.

I had a good signal report when I checked into the Oregon
Emergency Net.

Mike redid the roof for the tarp. This time using boards
nailed to the planks to space them properly. He had to move the
antenna pole which had fallen southeastward, and not toward the
skylight.

Carl brought up the mail. We received the spectrographic
report on the mercury. It was 99.999 percent pure. We got a

letter from a man who wanted to buy cinnabar.
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22nd

The 1low last night was 31, and the high was 43 with
sunshine.

Mike put new roofing on the furnace building roof. Along one
edge the big wind had removed one full width of the old paper. He
also laid down planks over the end of the cave in, and put an
eight foot by twelve foot tarp over them, then covered the tarp
with dirt. It‘s not apt to blow away.

Carl came up this afternoon. He said that Lani Davis would
like us to check the plumbing in an old mobile home on their
place. The water wasn’t drained from the pipes last fall, and
they were damaged by the freezing weather.

I went down with Carl, and found several places with broken
pipes. The building is in bad shape with rotten wood. After
looking at the place, I met Lani and Ed. They are doubtful about
fixing up the place. Four men from the Department of Mines want
to rent it for the summer while they are prospecting. Lani thinks
they might rent them some of the cabins.

I shoveled some gravel from the truck into the wheelbarrow,
and wheeled it to the trail. Carl moved two loads over while I
was shaving. After carl and I left for the Alvord Ranch Mike
wheeled one load over.

I baked cookies this morning.
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Ed says that the wind did a lot of damage at their place. Up
at the Juniper Lake School the wind completely demolished the
trailer house.

The Davis’ have a new cook again, and are using the cook-
house. Lani had been cooking and feeding the crew at their house
all winter.

I talked with Stella on the phone this morning. Apparentiliy
the wind didn’t blow as hard down there as it did here. Stella‘s
voice sounded strong on the phone. She asked about Margaret.

Today I fixed up a truss for the new hernia that came after
the operation. At first I wasn‘t sure there was a rupture, but
now that the truss is in place there is no problem using the
shovel, or running the wheelbarrow. There‘s no problem while
1ifting either.
23rd

The temperatures are getting warmer again. The low last
night was thirty-two, and the high today was fifty-nine. There
were a few clouds, but the sun shown most of the time.

I hauled out dirt from the cave in most of the day.
24th

The temperatures were warmer today, but it didn‘t feel like
it. I wélked out to the point this morning intending to jog down
the hill, but there was a Volkswagen Bus parked near the oil

barrels. Two men were in it looking out over the desert.
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When they saw me they got out. We greeted each other. One of
them, who’s name is Mike, introduced me to his friend. Mike said
that he was here a couple years ago. They were planning to carry
their skis up toward the top of the mountain.

I pointed out to them the way I thought was the best way to
go up, and told them about the two who had gone up passed Straw-
hat Pass last week.

I went back to the dugout without getting in my hike down
the hill.

Yesterday Mike brought some gravel up. This morning he used
the wheelbarrow to wheel some gravel over to the trail going to
the draw. Near the corner of the tin building he put in a culvert
to carry away the water that collects near the end of the build-
ing.

He still needs a small amount of gravel to cover all of the
trail.

This afternoon I looked up at the power pole, and saw that
the conduit pipe, that brings the wires into the dugout, was
leaning out from the pole. Two clamps made from steel strapping
had come loose on one side.

I got a ladder, and Mike put a new clamp half way up on the
pipe. He had used sixteen-penny nails to hoid the original clamp.

This time he used twenty-penny nails.
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He couldn‘t remember how he got up to the height of the
original top clamp. We don‘t have a ladder that will reach that
high, and a ladder placed on the ore bin wouldn’t have worked.

The leaning pipe had cracked the fitting to the meter box. I
used some of that electrical sealant to seal the crack.

Later I decided to go for a walk down the hill. Once again I
was sidetracked. As I reached the point, one of the feilows, who
had gone up the mountain with his skis, came down the upper road.

They had gone out toward Andrews on that bench to the south
of the ridge. They did some skiing out there, then some more
coming down on snow patches above the draw. Near the bottom of
the last patch the snow was getting soft which was better for
turning. Up above it wasn’t so good because of the icy condi-
tions.

The other fellow hadn‘t arrived yet after we talked about
fifteen minutes. Two vehicles approached coming up the hill. When
the got up close and stopped, six guys got out, and came over to
talk. One of them said that they were looking for a good place to
camp. 1 told them they could camp right there on the point.
¥But," I said, "There’s a better place down by Indian Creek.¥ and
told them where the road turned off to go there.

One of them said that that road looked pretty muddy. I was
surprised because the road looked dry the last time I was by

there.
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I lead them over to the cliff and pointed out the camping
spot. From the edge of the cliff the road could be seen, and they
saw that it was dry.

Later in the evening Mike went out and looked down. The two
vehicles were there, and one man was building a fire.

I baked cookies this morning, and biscuits tonight.
25th

I went to bed an hour earlier last night, and got up an hour
earlier this morning. The low was 28, and it got up to 45 today.
It seemed much colder because of a fifteen mile an hour wind. The
sun shown part of the time.

At ten ofclock I drove the truck in from the point. While I
was out there, I saw the two vehicles with the six people, who
had camped down by Indian Creek, parked on the road that comes up
from Indian Creek. They were standing around the vehicies. Three
people were standing apart from each other a short distance from
the vehicles. The scene didn‘t make sense.

I drove on down to the front of the dugout, and removed all
the stuff from behind the seat in order to see under the seat
where I thought Mike‘’s keys might be. There were no keys, but

several items, that we had forgotten we owned, came to light.
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Occasionally I looked out toward the point, and saw t
looking over the old cars out there, then saw them sta

this way. I met them out by the furnace room. We talked ab

32
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garden and the furnace. None of them mentioned reading the story

about us in the paper. One of them said, %I heard someone say you
were writing a book.¥%

I said, "No. I‘m not writing a book. There was a story about
us in the Oregonian. Maybe you saw it."®

They said they saw it, it was very interesting. One pbf them
said that when he saw the front of the dugout he knew who we

were.

One girl said that she had been in the Bangle Tree whe

bought some pieces of jewelry.

They finally left.

re she

Around noon I looked up at the sky, and from its appearance

I knew a major storm was coming. Mike wanted to transfer
box from the little pickup to the big one and get all th
stuff out of the 1ittie one.

I told him that there was a storm coming. At three o’
said,

*We’d better go out and 1load the box into the big

before it starts to rain.®
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When we got to the point, I looked up Indian Creek I saw the
snow starting to hide the mountain. With the box transferred Mike
drove down to the dugout where he unloaded the planks and other
pieces of lumber, then drove back out to the point and parked the
truck.

At three-thirty a fine rain started coming down with a
little wind. I walked out to the point and climbed into the cab
of the big pickup. It was warm in there out of the wind. I sat
there for about ten minutes enjoying the comfort.

The Volkswagen bus was parked at the Indian Creek turnoff. I
presumed the two skiers had hiked up above the mine and over the
ridge.

I got out and jogged down to the turn at the foot of the
hili, then came back. It was still raining lightly. Later when
the rain was heavy enough to cause water to run down the traii, I
put a five-gallon can out to catch water from the roof of the ore
bin. Now I have twenty-nine gallons on hand.
26st

There was two inches of wet snow on the ground this morning.
The snow and the rain came to one and a half inches of precipita-
tion since three-thirty yesterday. It snowed most of the day, and
the total amount came to two and two hundredth inches.

The low last night was thirty-two, and the high today was

forty-two.
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Mike took off to get the mail around one-thirty. It was
after four when he got back. The mailman was later than usual,
and Mike gave up waiting, and started up the hiil, but the mail-
man came before he got to the steep part of the hill. So he went
back down. There was nothing in the mail except letters to Mike
asking for donations.

I sent a letter to a man who is in prison in Salem. He had
written to us asking questions about the quonset, and the land we
set it up on.

I sent a copy of the article to Rea, and one to Jim Barnard.

I took a short hike down the road this evening, but didn‘t
get as much exercise as I would like.

We didn‘’t have a fire in here this afternoon, so I baked
cookies to keep warm. The activity was enough to keep me from
getting cold.

I talked with Lavina today. They had only nine tenths of an
inch of precipitation last night and only one inch of snow. This
morning they started out to go to Arizona. They got seven miles
toward Fields, and turned back. The weather looked too bad.

Bill Stolz is having a hard time keeping the road passable.
Thg heavy cattle and hay trucks make deep ruts in some places in
thg road. He has been putting rocks into these places, but they
dq?’t hold up. Now he is putting a fiberglass mesh under the

rogks and gravel. He hopes the mesh will keep the rocks from
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moving to one side or the other as the truck wheels pass over
then.

Late in the evening water came into the dugout under the
closet door from the caved-in tunnel. Mike took the fluorescent
lantern up on top and worked at trying to stop the leak. He
didn‘t have any luck.

Once 1 thought of opening the closet door to see if we could
catch the water in a bucket, but since there was such a large
amount of water I figured it wouldn‘t do much good. I thought
that we might just as well let the water run across the floor and
drain into the sump.

Mike kept trying to shovel the water into a bucket, but
couldn’t lower the pool that had formed in a iow place.

He said, "You might just as well go to bed."®

I thought it was hopeless to try to shovel up the water. He
would have to be at it all night. I didn’t like to leave him
there contending with the water, but I finally went over to my
bedroom. I might just as well have stayed, because I didn‘t go to
sleep until after three-thirty.

This morning I was over here by seven-thirty. I found the
floor dry and no new water flowing from the closet door. Mike was

still sleeping.
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Later I learned that he had put a tub under the leak, then
put a bucket into the tub. The bucket filled quickly, and he was
emptying buckets until the dripping stopped around three o‘clock.

Today, as the temperature warmed, the dripping started
again, but it was in a different place, and the bucket had to be
moved. Mike went up on top and worked in the snowstorm.

He found one cause of the leak, and cured that. However,
there was one small leak that continued. I put a bucket under it,
and checked to see how much water was in it after an hour. There
was very little.

Now there hasn’t been any precipitation since five-thirty.
We will have a respite tomorrow. The weather reports call for a
fair day.

The Volkswagen bus is still parked at the Indian Creek
turnoff. The two skiers must be up on the mountain.
27th

The low last night was twenty-seven, and it got up to forty-
two today. A brisk wind made it seem colder. The sun shown most
of the time. The road down the hill dried out a lot today.

Mike was busy early this morning, clearing snow off the
trail to the £ill, laying boards on the trail to keep the wheel-
barrow wheel out of the mud after the frost went out of the

ground. Around eight-thirty he started wheeling dirt out of the
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cave in. When he brought the wheelbarrow back from dumping the
first load, I started doing the shoveling. From then on until
ten-thirty, I filled the wheelbarrow while he wheeled it out.

The sweep on the bottom of the front door was dragging
harder than it should. Mike removed the screws that held the
hinges in place, then raised it up using nails this time. He cut
sagebrush and wood enough for two days of fire in the stove.

I found the keys he lost. They were in a pair of pants he
had back by his desk. They were back there because he was going
to do some sewing on them. At that time he overlooked the keys
that were in a pocket.

I made biscuits today, leaving out the milk. They are better
this way. I used half white and haif stone-ground flour.

At three o‘clock I jogged down passed the power-line cross-
ing. The VOlkéwagen is still parked by the road. If those two
guys are still up on the mountain, they must find the skying good
because there must have been three feet of new snow from the
recent storm.
28th

There was one half of an inch of new snow on the ground this
morning. It was snowing lightly, and by ten o‘clock the snow was
melting rapidly and there was no snow faliing. Thelsun started

shining through holes in the cliouds. I figured that by night
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things would be drying out, and the road down the hill wouldn‘t
be bad.

Early in the morning Mike said, ¥Here T planned to cut down
that apricot tree today. It‘s too wet down there now. % However,
by noon the ground had dried enough so that he could get around
and use the electric-chain saw.

At two o‘clock Carl arrived with the mail. Mike said that he
saw him at the point talking with the two skiers who had just
come off the mountain. Mike had talked with them when they went
by the garden. The weather had been quite rough up there. The
snowstorm brought one foot of wet snow. We figured the snow would
be dry and deeper.

I fried another chicken this afternoon, and mixed up some
dough for piecrust, but didn‘t role it out. There were too many
interruptions.

Mike got the tree all sawed into firewood, and praised the
electric-chain saw for the speed it cut through the wood.

I talked with Dora on the phone this morning. Jimmy drove
her over to Lakeview where the doctor made tests for diabetes.
Why she never had these tests before seems strange. She showed
the symptoms before coming out here from Kansas. Anyway the
doctor gave her some pills to take, during the spells when her
blood sugar was low. He told her to always have a candy bar with

her.
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She always has had candy around the house, and I have never
seen her on a trip in the car without candy. She used to eat
candy to get over those jittery spells, but lately I guess they
have been getting worse.
29th

We had one-half inch of snow on the ground this morning. The
low last night was twenty-seven, and the high today was forty-
two. Strong winds during the day made it seem coider.

Mike started wheeling dirt out before I finished breakfast.
After breakfast I shoveled while Mike handled the wheelbarrow. We
worked until news time at eleven o‘clock, then ate lunch. After
lunch we wheeled out several more loads, then closed the closet
door for the day.

Mike cut some wood. I boiled some potatoes and onions. About
three-thirty I walked down the hill to the head of the lower
draw. Water was coming up in all three soft places.

Half way back up I heard a vehicle coming behind me. Looking
around I saw that it was farther than the sound indicated. I
waited until they came up to me. Two fellows were in a van. They
wanted to know where the road went, and if it was a private road.

I told them that the road ended where they could see the
vehicles at the point. I thought that they might be wanting to go
up the mountain skying like the others lately, but they were

looking for a place to camp out of the wind.

39



March, 1984 40

I said, "The only place I know of is down by Indian Creek,
but you might not be able to drive down there because of the
mud. ¥
I gave them directions on how to get there, and told them to
check out the road before they headed off the gravel.

They drove on up the hill, and I continued walking. Later I
saw them coming back. They had decided they couldn‘t make it to
Indian Creek. They would camp down by the mailbox.
30th

The low last night was twenty-six, and the high today was
fifty. There wasn’t much wind.

Mike cut wood all morning. I wheeled out dirt from the cave
in

Around one o‘clock Mike went down the hill with the sixty-
four pickup, intending to haul gravel. After he left I hauled out
a few more loads of dirt, then began fixing a lunch for myself.
Mike came in the door saying, "Well, I did it again.®

Where the water is coming up in the road the truck had gone
down in the mud to the bumpers. This particular place had been
almost dry over the weekend, and several vehicles had been over
it. Yesterday I walked down passed it, and saw that water was
coming up in the tracks again. When Mike announced he would haul
gravel on his trip for the mail, I said, "I don’t know about that

spot. It’s wetter than it was over the weekend."®
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He said, "Well, all those vehicies have been going up and
down the road all right.¥®

I said, %Yes, but every time one goes across that spot it
gets worse.?

It took us several hours to get the truck out of the mud.
Luckily Carl came up on his motorcycle with the mail, and gave us
a hand which we welcomed heartily. Without his help it would have
taken a iot longer.

We used four big planks, four short pieces of blocking,
several two-by-fours, and other pieces of boards under the wheels
on the left side. We had to use two jacks to get the stuff under

— then.

We hooked a line to the big pickup, and I towed it out.
3ist

There was more precipitation early this morning, bringing
seven hundredth of an inch. The low last night was thirty-two,
and the high was forty-six.

We didn‘t wheel any dirt out today because of the wet weath-
er. The clouds were close to the ground and seemed like a fog
except that there were fine drops of rain and a few snowflakes.

I baked an apple pie, having yesterday prepared the dough
for the crust. I‘m not sure what caused the dough to be unruly.

It may have been that the shortening was too cold, and didn‘t mix
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with the flour as it should. It seemed to require more water than
usual. Anyway, at the first try at rolling it out, it cracked at
the edges as though it was too dry, yet it seemed wet enough.

I separated the crust into small with the thought of adding
more water. However, there seemed to be need for more water. I
was able to gather the pieces together, and make a coherent ball
that rolled out with no cracking. Perhaps by then the dough was
warmer.

The pie turned out fine except that there may have been too
much sugar for these appies. They aren‘t very sour. The last
apple pie I made were from green apples.

The crust must have broken on the bottom, because juice
began boiling up between the crust and the glass pie late. I
could see the juice at the bottom.

George called while I was baking the pie. Lois has been
bringing Harry home lately. The nursing home used to keep him
tied in a wheelchair so that he couldn‘t get up and walk around
and perhaps fall down and get hurt. Lois wanted him to walk more,
and prevailed on the home to let him do so. She had to sign a
paper that absolved the home should he fall and break an arm or a
leg, or become injured in any way.

George was amazed how Harry improved his walking ability. He

would start down the hall and go faster and faster. He would lean
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forward so far it appeared that his feet would have to go faster
to keep him from falling on his face.

Once at the home, he got out a side door and ran across a
lawn toward a lake. The nurses chased after him and he got going
so fast he fell down and broke his glasses.

George took the broken glasses to a place to be repaired,
but not many places repair glasses. This place didn’t, but they
gave him the addresses of a couple of places that would.

One address was the place where he had just purchased a pair
of glasses. He went in there and asked if they repaired glasses
at the same time showing the clerk the broken ones. The clerk
asked, "How did they get broken?¥%

The clerk remembered George, and that he had been in for
glasses a few weeks earlier. George said, %It doesn’t make any
difference how they were broken. Can you fix them. Anyway, they
fell out of my pocket and a car ran over them.®

The clerk said, ¥I can fix them. I will take a littile
while.¥®

George let the clerk think the glasses were his own. He
didn‘t want go through the story about Harry.

In about fifteen minutes, the clerk came back with the
glasses looking like new. He set them on George’s nose saying,

"How are they?¥
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George said, "Boy! They are fine." He took them off imme-
diately because he couldn‘t see anything. The clerk looked as-
tounded to see him take off the glasses.

There was no charge and the clerk said, "If you have any
more trouble come see us again.®

Well, Lois is thinking of taking Harry out of the nursing
home, and keeping him home with her. George and her friends
advise her not to, because she isn‘t well enough herself to do
the job even with someone to come in and help.

George thinks there is another reason that Lois wants Harry
home, and that is finances. Her son Mike isn‘t doing so well in
his new restaurant and resort business. He may lose the place and
that means Lois will be out the fifty-five thousand dollars she
loaned him.

If Harry comes home to stay, George feels that it will put
too much work on him, and he will have to leave and come back to
California. The real-estate dealer hasn’t sold his place yet. He
could move back in, and although all the furniture is gone, he
would need only a bed and a table. The stove and refrigerator are
stilil there.

I took a hike down the road this afternoon. At the sump hole
I saw that it was just as bad as ever with water running from it
on down the road passed the second hole. Out in the sagebrush on

each side, pools of water stood everywhere.
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When we got the littlie pickup out of the hole yesterday,
Mike had tried to turn it around, but where he backed off the
road the ground was soft and, although he got the rig headed back
up hill, he spun out. Rather than taking the chance of getting
the wheels dug in deeper, he had given up and road up the hill
with me.

I looked the situation over trying to decide whether to go
forward or backward to get back on the road. It seemed the best
bet was to back up. I got in and started the motor, put the shift
into the lowest gear, and tried moving forward. Not a chance. I
put the gear in reverse and started moving, and was back on the
road in no time. I drove up to the point, and parked it near the
tractor.

The sun was shining, but there was a storm traveling from
the north down the length of the desert. The wind a head of the
storm was making good sized waves ripple along the shore. I
decided to sit in the big pickup out of the wind and light
sprinkle, to watch the weather.

The little storm had the appearance of a thunderstorm, but
there was no thunder and lightening. The direction it was moving
was unusual because generally they travel from South to North, or

from Southwest to Northeast.
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In a short time Mike came along, and I could see that he
intended to walk down the road. I opened the window and called to
him, "Where you headed for?%

He looked around, but couldn’t see where my voice was coming
from. I said, "I brought up the little pickup."

He said, "I wasn‘t expecting you here. I thought you would
be way down the road so I didn’t look over that way. I wasn‘t
going down to get the pickup.” He walked on down the road.

I closed the window and sat in the cab watching his pro-
gress. Some distance below the power-line crossing he left the
road and walked through the sagebrush and walked toward the
middle draw. He didn‘t go all the way to the draw, but cut back
toward the road coming out at the sump hole. He crossed over to
the north of the hole, then back to the road. I figured from his
actions he didn’t find a way to detour around the hole.

I watched him come back up the road, and when he got this
side of the Indian Creek turnoff, I got out and came down to the
dugout.

Later he said that there was water all out through the
sagebrush. We had no choice but to use the road.

I talked with Ellis on the radio tonight, and told him about
the water coming up in the road. He said that in a week or so

with some good weather the road would be all dry.
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I said, "The trouble is, the water coming up in the road is
from the runoff higher up. When the weather gets warmer it will
be worse.¥

He said, "I guess that’s right. Maybe that‘s the trouble
with the water in my basement. It’s coming up through the floor
from water that originates higher up on the hill.®

After I signed off with him, a ham near San Jose called
him. His name was Frank. Ellis didn‘t remember who he was at
first, but it wasn’‘t long before he did. It’s been twenty years
since they were in contact.

Later Ellis Derrell broke in. It turned out that Frank had

given Derrell the examination for his ham license.
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There was no rain last night or today, but there were Show—
ers up on the mountain, and across the desert. They just missed
us.

When I came over this morning, Mike was coming out the door
with the wheelbarrow. He was headed for the point, and I guessed
he was bent on loading rocks into the littie pickup. He said that
the rocks would go into the sump down the road.

After breakfast I decided that I would spend some time
cleaning house. It was getting into worse shape all the time.
With so much dirt spilling onto the floor from the wheelbarrow,
and being tracked in on our shoes, the floor was covered with it.
When we walked on it, dust was stirred up, and when we swept the
floor more dust rose into the air.

The table top, desk, cabinet top, freezer top, and every-
where dust was becoming visibly thick..

I started mopping the floor, and it took a long time to
finish it. The water in the bucket had to be changed several
times, and the mop thoroughly rinsed out each time. Cleaning the
carpet was a job by itself.

Around noon Mike came back with the wheelbarrow. He said he
had a pretty good load of rocks. Next he was going pile a lot of
sagebrush on top of the rocks. The brush would go into the hole
first to make a mat that, he hoped, would keep the rocks from

squashing out to the side of the wheels as we drove over them.
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After lunch he brought the little pickup around the upper
road, and parked it near the tin building. The sagebrush was
across the draw.

I continued cleaning house, cooked some ground beef, cut up
a fryer, and put it on to cook.

The pie I made yesterday lasted until this afternoon. Mike
finished off the last piece. He ate more of it than I thought he
would, since it was so sweet. I ate most of it, though. If I want
to put a pie in the freezer, I’11 have to make two at a time.

After the chicken was done, I put on the old pair of Nikes
to wear inside of my overshoes, got into the 1little pickup, and
drove down to see if I could help Mike.

He had gotten a ditch dug through which water ran from the
hole. All the sagebrush was off the truck, and placed in the
wheel tracks. He was still working at digging the ditch.

I took the pitch fork and arranged the brush more in line
with the wheel tracks, and tramped it down into the mud.

Mike shoveled all the rocks off the truck, while I threw
some and carried some others onto the brush. When he got the
rocks unloaded, he said, "I‘m ready to call it quits.¥®

I continued moving rocks from the pile saying, "I‘’d like to
get more rocks onto the brush in case the wind comes up tonight.¥#

In a short while the pile was down to nothing.
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I started up the hill with the big pickup, and Mike came
along behind me with the little pickup. As I started up the last
steep grade the motor quit, and it wouldn‘t start. Mike said that
my exhaust had been putting out black smoke all the way.

I said, "You might as well walk up. I‘11 see if I can do
anything to start the motor.¥®

I didn‘t try to start the motor for several minutes, then
without moving the gas peddle down at all cranked until the motor
started. Still it flooded and would run without smoking only in
the idle position.

I looked under the hood, and found a mouse nest that was
keeping the vacuum break from operating. It took me quite a while
to clear out the nest. Getting up to where I could reach it
wasn‘t easy without the stool to stand on. With the trouble cured
I came on up the hiii.
2nd

The low last night was thirty-two, and the high today was
forty-six. It was partly cloudy, but there were no showers.

Mike spent most of the morning cutting willow poles to place
in the ditch that he dug across the road to drain off the water
coming up in the road.

Around ten-thirty Carl showed up on his motorcycle. We were

surprised to see him. He said that he came up to see if he could
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be of any help. Yesterday he had been up to the hole with a load
of rocks. The ones he threw in disappeared in the mud.

Mike was ready to load rocks into the little pickup so Caril
went with him. I continued with the house cleaning. They were
loading rocks for about an hour, and I wondered if they might
overload the pickup. They came back for a rest and a cup of
coffee.

Around twelve o‘clock they headed down to put more rocks on
the sagebrush in the wheel tracks. I spent more time cleaning,
and moving stuff that had accumulated in odd places, taking it
out to the engine building, and the furnace roon.

I also ran some clothes through the washer, and hung them on the
line.

Mike came back alone at two o‘clock for a for a rest and
lunch. After lunch he went out to cut sagebrush.

I rolled out some pie crust, using shortening that was at
room temperature. I measured out the same amount that I used the
other day. It took less water, and the dough came together easier

It was mail time. I put the one letter I had ready into a
sack, and started out the door. Mike was on his way in with a
load of sagebrush. He said, "I was going to go down and go across
the hole with the pickup. He paused, then said, "I can do that

in the morning.¥
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I looked under the hood of the pickup to make sure no mouse
had made a nest under the air cleaner.

At the hole I turned the pickup around to face back up the
hill. Looking at the results of filling the wheel tracks with
brush and rocks, I felt that I could drive over it with the big
truck, but thought I might just as well let Mike try it with the
little pickup in the morning.

The walk on down to the mailbox gave me needed exercise. The
air was warm, but the sun and the exercise made me sweat.

It looked like the upper hole was ready to drive across. The
center hole was in worse shape. Besides the increase of water,
someone had been over it with a heavy vehicle, and made deep
wheel tracks. They had slued around and made crooked tracks that
would be more difficult fill with brush and rocks.

The lower hole also had deep wheel tracks. Carl had said to
Mike that now he couldn‘t drive his truck across there.

Back at the dugout I started preparing apples for the pie,
and was baking it while the news was on.

I checked into the Beaver State Net, and then into the
Oregon Emergency Net. I took the pie out of the oven, and baked
the extra rolled out crust.

When Ellis checked in, I made contact with him. I said,

"Jean Hawthorne was supposed to come home around the last of




April, 1984 6

March. Would you call Bob Latham in Burns and ask him If Jean had
made it home all right.¥" He called the number I gave him, but
there was no answer. He said he would call again later and meet
me in the morning on the weather net to ilet me know what he
learned.

He asked me if I had the toll free number for Ham Radio
Sales in California. I told him I would look it up. "But,¥ I
said, " I can give you an 800 number you can call to find out if
a business you want to contact has an 800 number. I found the 800
number of a chemical company that way . ¥

He said, "That will be fine to have on hand." I looked it up
and gave it to him. He said that I could give him the 800 number
for the Ham Radio Sales in the morning on the weather net.

I told him about the spring coming up not only in the road
but all out through the sagebrush along the fault, and how it
would probably get worse as the weather warmed and more runoff
took place higher up.

The pie crust in the oven got baked very hard while I was
talking with Ellis. It was too crumbly to suit Mike. He would
like it more solid.
3rd

Carl was up here before eight o‘clock. When I heard his

motor as he was coming over the point, I thought Mike had started
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the little pickup, and was coming down to fill the gas tank. I
thought, ¥Boy! He sure is getting out early this morning. ¥

I got up and came over this way expecting to see the pickup
in front of the gas house, but it wasn‘t there, then I saw Carl‘s
Mazda in front of the dugout. I hadn’t expected him to be able to
come up the road, because two of those holes were still in bad
shape.

He and Mike went out to the point in Carl‘s pickup, and then
loaded rocks into the iittie pickup.

I made my breakfast, and after eating got busy with work
around here. Cleaned out my bedroom, took out some pilliows that
were stored in plastic bags, and put them in the trailer house.
The sacks had been sitting on the floor collecting dust and lint.

Around twelve o‘clock Mike and cari got back. They had
unloaded the rocks, and then gone over to the gravel bed, and
brought back a load of gravel. The pickup bogged down in the
center hole. They managed to jack up the wheels and put planks
under them, so got out without the need of a tow.

Mike mixed up his usual concoction for lunch. I fried some
boiled potatoes, warmed up some peas and corn in the microwave
oven, and put the cold pieces of chicken on a plate and got it
all on the table for Carl. He didn‘t want any toast or bread. He
said he was trying to cut down on the food. He did finish off

with a piece of pie and a cup of coffee.
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After lunch they went down after a ioad of gravel. I told
them I would keep an eye on them in case they needed a tow.

Around three-thirty I decided it was time I looked down from
the point with the field glasses to see how they were doing. Sure
enough 1 saw the little pickup, but not the Mazda. At first I
thought the little pickup was parked this side of the center
hoie, but soon I could see that it was coming this way. I watched
to see if it would make it across the upper hole. Before reaching
this end it came to a stop. Mike got out, he was alone, he went
in front of the pickup, and looked at the right front wheel, then
went back to the rear. I could see that he was too far to the
right. I thought, "He seems to be in the same wheel tracks that
he was in the last time he got stuck.®

I lost no time driving down with the big pickup. When I got
there, Mike was out of sight. I walked down passed the hole. He
was all the way down to the lower hole, and coming this way
carrying a heavy plank.

I went down to meet him, and offered to carry one end of the
plank, but he said that it wasn‘t heavy. It was just the up hill
going.

He said, "If I had known you were coming down, I wouldn‘t
have gone after the plank, because there’s some on the big pick-

up."®
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Well, we spent about an hour and a half jacking up the
wheels and moving first the front end over to better ground, then
the rear end over, and towing it out of the hoile.

Now Mike thinks it will take ten loads of gravel to make the
road passable.

The region of the hernia operation is giving trouble again.
1’ve been redesigning the truss trying to make it more comfort-—
able. Also, I‘ve decided to eat less roughage food to cut down on
the formation of gas.
5th

Yesterday Carl was up here, and he and Mike went down to
haul gravel again. Once I looked down there with the field glass-
es, and saw that they were using the jacks at the front of the
pickup. I drove down there figuring they would need more planks.

As I neared the upper hole, I saw them walking this way at
the side of the hole. They waited for me to turn around and back
up toward the hole. I thought they were going to unload some
planks. But it turned out that they were coming up to the dugout
for lunch. It wasn‘t yet eleven o‘clock. Mike had looked at his
watch wrong, and thought it was nearly noon.

They had gotten the truck stuck with a full load of gravel,
but not where I thought when I saw them using the jacks. Mike had

driven off the road on the north side intending to turn around so
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that he could back the truck up to the center hole and unload the
gravel. The ground was soft there, and he mired down.

We came up here. I fixed a lunch, mixing onions, flour,
powdered milk, and an egg with ground beef. I fried it over fast
heat to a good brown.

I thawed out some peas and corn, and boiled some potatoes
and onions. By twelve o‘clock we had eaten.

We went back down and worked at trying to jack the wheels
up, and get the planks under then.

It was mail time, and I had brought the weather report to be
mailed.

About three o‘clock a heavy shower came up. Carl went down
on his motorcycle, and brought up the mail sack. I dumped out the
mail, and put the weather report into the sack. Carl said, "I‘11
see you in the morning if it doesn’t rain.¥, and headed back
down with it.

Mike and I came back up the hill, and were sorry to leave
the little pickup still stuck.

At six I checked into the net, then there was a knock on the
door. I went to the door, and saw Ann outside. She had walked up
in the rain from the center hole where her truck had bogged down.

She had come over from the bird refuge by way of Frenchglen.
Oon the way she had taken a hike up on a mesa. Now, after the walk

up here, she was pretty tired.
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I fixed a dinner for her, consisting of the leftover vegeta-
bles, and a ground-beef patty which I warmed up in the microwave
oven. I fried some of the boiled potatoes. She ate a hearty, and
finished it off with a bowl of Jell-o.

I asked if she was cold. She said, ¥A little.¥

Mike gave her one of his vests, and a jacket to put on. The
coat she wore was wet. He gave her his white Nike shoes to wear,
because her shoes were badly coated with mud. The Nikes fitted
her just right.

We had a lot to tell her, and she gave us a rundown on what
she had been doing.

I surmised she would like to go to bed early, and had put
clean sheets on the cot by the window, and had the bed ready.

However, it was ten o‘clock before I said, "I‘11 bet you‘d
like to go to bed. Youfve had a long day.®

She said, "I’m sleeping back in my pickup."

I said, "You can sleep in the cot. It‘s all made up with
clean sheets.¥

She asked, "Where is Mike going to sleep? Isn’t that his
bed?"

1 told her that he slept in the back behind the partition.
She would like to take a bath, and I got out a bath towel, a

washrag, and a new bar of soap. She asked if we had a comb,
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remarking that it might seem iike an odd question to ask us,
because we never use a comb.

I found a comb that came with the barber kit.

I left her to take her shower. Outside I could see some
stars and a few clouds as I went to my bedroom.

This morning, before I came over here, I heard Carl‘s motor-
cycle. I spent twenty minutes redoing the truss, which I might
just as well have left alone, because it didn‘t work as good as
before. I’11 have to work on it again.

Yesterday we got Ann‘s pickup out of the hole, and the
little pickup out. Ann stayed around while we unloaded the
gravel.

Around noon, she gave me a book about the greatest flood on
earth. It was in the ares called the Scab Lands of Washington.
Then she headed down the hill. Carl followed her.

Back up here Mike cut wood. I baked a couple loaves of
bread.

Last night it was cold and windy with eight hundredths of an
inch of rain. It was still cold this morning. Around one o‘clock,
Mike was ready to go down to get the mail, and intended to bring
up a load of gravel.

The weather had turned warmer. Carl showed up on his motor-

cycle. So Mike had a helper after all.
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1 baked an apple pie, using a little less shortening than
the last time. It turned out good, but I could have used even
less shortening.

Mike didn‘t get stuck in any of the holes. They hauled up
one load, and put it in the middle hole, then they went back down
and shoveled on another load. Mike brought it up, and left the
truck just below the middle hole. Carl didn‘t come up, but went
on home.

This evening a cold wind came from the north. I hiked down
to where Mike left the truck, jogging most of the way.

This morning I worked on the truss before coming over here,
making it more compact. It works better.
7th

The low last night was twenty-seven, and it got up to fifty-
six today.

I came over here at eight ofclock. The air was still coid.
When I first got up, I heard Carl’s motorcycle come but never
heard any voices, or doors opening and closing. Yet when I came
over here, the motorcycle was gone, and Mike was gone. Later I
learned that Mike had finished his breakfast before they went
down the hilli.

After a breakfast of a slice of stone-ground-flour bread, a

poached egg, and a cup of coffee, I continued my job of cleaning
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up the place. I got all the odds and ends off the front half of
the table. So now there is more room for the dishes of food, and
a better place for Carl to eat.

I mopped and swept the floor, something that should be done
every day, because we track in a lot of dirt.

At eleven o‘clock I began preparing food for lunch, figuring
that Carl and Mike would be here before noon. Thus when they ar-
rived, lunch was soon on the table.

Mike complained about being tired. They had unioaded the
gravel left in the pickup yesterday, and then hauled and emptied
two more. After lunch, Mike said, "Well, I‘m going to rest a
while.®" He sat at the table talking. After some time, he went out
and loaded some brush onto the pickup, then they took off down
the hill.

By that time I had washed the dishes. I would have gone down
to help with the gravel, but a lot of work needed to be done to
make this place presentable to visitors.

I wanted to get some exercise, so opened the door to the
back tunnel, and wheeled out dirt until three o’clock. It was
beginning to rain. I expected Mike and maybe Carl to be here
about that time. I had no more than gotten the door closed and
the cracked under it plugged, and the wheelbarrow stashed out-

side, when Mike came walking down from the point.
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They had gotten one load of gravel up and unloaded it, then
another which they left on the truck, because it was beginning to
rain, and also because the brakes weren‘t working.

The brake fluid was gone, so there must be a break in the
line. We will check in the morning to find the leak, and try to
repair it. From the way Mike talked about having me help him made
me think that Carl wouldn‘t be up tomorrow.

After dinner tonight I baked another apple pie. There was
only one and a half cups of white flour in the place, so I used
it and a half cup of stone-ground flour for the crust. In the
filling I used one tablespoon of cornstarch instead of two table-
spoons of flour.

The rolled out crust tended to split at the edge, making it
necessary paste some rolled out dough on the cracks. I knew that
the patches worked all right, because the juice didn‘t run out.

I rolled out the excess dough, and in trying to overcome the
cracks at the edge, and also to make the piece rounder, I folded
the crust back onto itself around the periphery, then rolled some
more. The dough stuck together and blended to make a smooth edge.
Now the rounded piece can be lifted by hand, and it won‘t tear.

The next time I make a pie crust 111 try this procedure.

That won‘t be until we can get to town, and get some flour.
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We hope to have enough gravel in the holes to drive the
pickups across by the middle of next week. But by then the roads
to Burns may be closed, and we will have to go to Winnemucca.
8th

There was a sprinkle of rain this morning, when I got up at
six-thirty. The low was twenty-nine, and the high was forty nine.

At seven o‘clock we watched the efforts of the astronauts to
retrieve a satellite, and were disappointed at their failure.

Later in the morning the rain turned into snow, and the wind
got stronger. By noon it was a blizzard.

The first five-gallon can I set out to catch water filled
quite readily, but the second can got only half full by the time
the water stopped running from the pipe. The temperature turned
cold. Also the snow took up the water from what snow did melt.

Around three-thirty the wind slacked off, but the snow kept
coming down quite heavily. By four-thirty the wind dropped almost
to a calm. It made the weather pleasant enough for a walk down
the hill. I walked down to the turn at the bottom of the first
steep grade. From there on I jogged to the power-line crossing
before I turned back.

When I was halfway back I saw Mike coming toward me. He had

decided to take a walk to stir up his blood.
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except in one spot where the fiexible hose goes into the fitting
that meets the steel tubing.

Mike gave a short push on the brake peddie while I kept my
eye on the spot. Fluid came spurting out.

Mike had already gotten out the jack, so now we Jjacked the
wheel up out of the mud to take it off. However, the 1lug wrench
wasn‘t behind the seat in its usual place.

We tried to remove the hose without taking off the wheel,
but the only wrench we had that would fit was a small crescent
which didn‘t have enough leverage. Also we needed a large screw-
driver to remove a keeper that holds the fitting to the frame.

""""" We hiked back up to the dugout, and got some more tools,
came back down, and removed the wheel which gave more room to
work. Mike was able to take off the flexible hose.

Back up here we couldn‘t find a replacement, so will have to
buy a new one in Burns.

I made a batch of biscuits using stone-ground fiour with
some cornstarch in it. They came out quite good.

At mail time I drove the big pickup down as far as the upper
hole. I was hoping to turn it around, but after two tries gave
up. Luckily, I didn‘t get bogged down off the road.

There was some snow falling, and it looked like a storm was

approaching. That was the reason for going down in the pickup.
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I jogged most of the way down to the maiibox. There was a
doctor’s heavy-reference book in the mail sack, also ten books
about Reagan. I thought the weight would be troublesome climbing
the hill, but it wasn‘t that heavy.

At the pickup I dumped the mail into the seat, got in, and
backed up the hill, having in mind a place near the power-line
crossing where I might be able to turn it around, but the wheels
spun our before I could get that far.

I walked on up not feeling too tired from all the hiking.
Now we have two pickups parked on the road.

After checking into the net tonight, I experimented in
making pie dough with stone-ground flour and cornstarch. From the
cookbook I learned that one tablespoon of cornstarch equaled one
and three fourths tablespoons of flour.

I used these proportions in the pie dough. After cutting in
the shortening I found that the dough would adhere together
without any water. I added a tablespoon of water, the decided to
see if the dough would roll out without any more.

I did get it rolled out, but it wouldn‘t hold together. I
broke the rolled-out piece into small pieces, and added water
tumbling the pieces with a fork. After adding four more table-
spoons of water I tried rolling them again. This time the crust

was a little better, but not satisfactory. I broke it into pieces
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and added more water. It rolled out quite good, but it still was
fragile, although I managed to line the pie plate with it.

I cut the second piece of dough into pieces, and added ten
tablespoons of water. This would have been an excessive amount
with ordinary pie dough. However it rolled out quite good. I had
less trouble putting it over the apples than I usually do with
regular dough.

The pie baked fine, and the crust I made from the dough left
over was such that Mike said, "I thought you said you couldn‘t
make pie crust out of stone—-ground flour.¥®

I told him about using cornstarch with the flour.
10th

The low last night was thirty-three, and the high today was
forty-three. We had small hail and snow showers all day, but the
temperature was warm enough not to let it accumulate on the
ground.

Around nine ofcliock Mike headed down the hill, I presumed,
to put the left front wheel back on, and move the pickup off the
road.

I put a frozen chicken into the sink with hot water which I
have found to be the best way to thaw one out. Then prepared a
pot of potatoes and onions to boil on the stove.

Mike had some beans cooking, and I watched to see that they

didn‘t boil over, or burn.
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I went out to the point a couple of times to see how Mike
was doing. But even with the glasses I couldn‘t tell if he had
the wheel on. I saw him moving around behind and around the side
of the pickup. 1 thought he might be cutting sagebrush and put-
ting in the road.

The second time I looked he was unloading the small amount
of gravel that had been left in the truck.

Around eleven-thirty I heard a motorcycle outside, and saw
Mike and Carl on it. While they were getting off, another motor-
cycle appeared, also a four-wheel mudrunner with big tires. A boy
was riding it. The motor was in the center under the seat. Later
I saw that it was started with a rope starter, the rope being
pulled out from the side.

Altogether there were ten people besides Carl. They had seen
the story in the Oregonian, and cCarl brought them up to see the
place first hand. They were camped out at Fog Springs. Carl had
joined them in motorcycle trips, and on one trip they had visited
Mickey Hot Springs.

Carl said that the BLM had improved the road that went
passed the springs and on over the desert. The water from the
Alvord Desert wasn’t running out to the north yet. It would have
to get a lot higher to go passed the springs.

After they had gone I put the chicken on to fry.

21



April, 1984 29

The showers continued, sometimes heavy so it was uncomfort-
able outside. I spent a lot of time reading in the Doctor‘s
Reference Book, but learning very little about the pain tablets
that were prescribed for me when I came out of the hospital. The
term or letters APAP lacked a definition in the book. At least I
couldn‘t find one. The nearest was Demoral APAP in which Demoral
was two kinds of narcotics put together-— one Neperdine-- the
other Acetammminophen What APAP designated was not given.

There was a long dissertation on the hazards of the two
drugs, and the danger of continued use which could lead to addic-—
tion.

This morning I made another modification to the truss,
making it more comfortable, and it worked better.

Last night every time I woke I made it a practice to take a
deep breaths. This seemed to make me sleep better, and I felt
better when I got up.
1ith

The low last night was twenty-five, and the high today was
forty-eight. There was no rain or snow.

When I came over here this morning, Carl was outside with
his pickup. I asked him how he got around our pickup. He said the

ground was firm, and he drove right around it.
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I said, "Well, I’d better go down now before the ground
thaws out, and gets slick, and turn our pickup around, and bring
it up here.®

Carl said, %1 think you can do that now with the ground
frozen.™

He and Mike were about to go after gravel. They intended to
use the little pickup even though the brakes weren‘t working. I
rode with them as far as the big pickup, and had no troubile
turning it around and driving it up the hili.

The time was only seven-thirty. I listened to the news while
getting breakfast, and was cleaning up the place by eight-
fifteen.

Mike and Carl showed up. I said, "Boy! You sure got a load
of gravel loaded and unloaded in a hurry.¥®

Carl said, "We used my little pickup, and didn’t get much of
a load. Mike started the little pickup, and was going to use it,
but when he went to shift gears, the motor stalled, and he could-
n‘t get it into any gear. He had to drive it off the road to get
it stopped. The wheels mired down.

Now they were planning to use the big pickup. I figured I
would go with the, and do the driving, because Mike wasn‘t used
to driving the big pickup.

Thus I missed checking into the morning net.

23
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We drove across the holes without trouble, and hauled two
loads. Mike and Carl shoveled up the first load. I worked with
Carl on the second load. The first one went on the middle hoie
the second one on the upper hole.

Carl was ready to haul another load, but Mike and I thought
we should quit at this point. I said, "Carl can get his pickup,
and we‘ll go up and have lunch.®

Carl said, "Jim hasn‘t been up there getting lunch. I‘1l go
home. I‘ve got a lot of food all cooked.¥®

This afternoon we loaded the utility box onto the big truck,
and got it ready to go to town tomorrow. Carl will come up here
eight o‘clock, and go with us.

I made an apple pie this afternoon. The crust wasn‘t up to
par. I probably got too much flour for the amount of shortening.
Mike seemed to like it, though®
12th

Carl was up here at seven-thirty, and we left for Burns at
eight o’clock. The weather promised to be quite good. There was a
hint of rain or snow from stormy looking clouds over the moun-
tain. It made us wonder what was in store.

The low last night was forty, and it was forty-five when we

left.
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At the cattle guard Bill and his helper were getting ready
to do some work on the road with their graders. They had already
scraped at the road bed on each side of the cattie guard, making
ridges of earth that made the going rough.

Up along the side of the mountain and to the north there was
some precipitation which I called rain, and Mike called snow.
There was no way to prove who was right, but alil the way up
passed the Juniper Ranch we ran into rain only.

At Mann Lake where it comes nearest to the road the water
was about three feet beliow the road bed. One can surmise that
when the big runoff comes next month, the water could be over the
road.

There was very little traffic on the highway, and we were
passed Crane before we encountered any vehicles.

Some distance north of Lawen water was running over the
road, and right close to Lawen a truck was dumping gravel on the
road where there was considerable water on the road. The lane we
were in had stakes up to keep the traffic from getting out where
the pavement was broken down.

We went slowly, but still the road felt rough under the
water. The rest of the way there was lots of water out in the

fields, but none on the road.
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In town we did our shopping hurriedly. Carl got his hair
cut, and saw the shoemaker to find out if he could put a zipper
on his leather coat. The next time Caris comes to town he will
take the coat in with him and have the zipper put on.

At the Safeway store Carl and I started shopping, while Mike
went over to Napa Parts to get the flexible hose for the brake
line. As time went by I began to wonder why it was taking Mike
so long at the parts place. Finally I saw him coming up an isle
with a cart with only one item in it.

The reason he had been gone so long was that he had lost his
pocket book. He found it out when he went to pay for the flexibile
hose.

He went all the way back to the Chevron station where he
figured he had lost it in the men‘s room. He couldn’t find it,
and asked the attendant if it had been turned in. No such look.
i4th

Soon after we got home Thursday the service-station attend-
ant called to tell Mike he found his pocket book.

We rested over Friday, and got an early start for Burns on
this warm sunny morning. We were going in to get Mike’s pocket
book, and some other items that didn‘t have on our shopping

lists.
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The road going into town was drier than it was Thursday.
There was less water running over the highway north of Lawen than
there was Thursday, and at the worst place on Thursday the
roadbed was dry.

We had only a few things to get, but drove around quite a
bit to get them, so was around town for about two hours.

We got home around two-thirty. Mike did out two tubs full of
laundry.

I took a walk down the hill as far as the lower hole. There
is less water coming up in all the holes, which makes me think
they will be dry in a few weeks.

While I was looking over the condition of the lower hole, I
heard a motorcycle coming up the hiil, also other motorcyciles
down on the county road. Carl drove up on his small motorcycle.
He wanted me to see me about writing a letter to Oma telling her
to put in for sheep tags and antelope tags for him. He gave me
his permanent license to get the number to send Oma.

While we were talking, three guys came up on motorcyciles.
ie6th

Yesterday we started the motor on the tractor by towing the
tractor with the pickup. It ran until Mike swung out into the
sagebrush, after going down over the brow of the hill. fThere
didn’t seem to be any reason for it quoting. The starter couldn‘t

get it going again.
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The position of the tractor was such that we couldn’t tow it
from the front, but had to tow it backward up the hill.

Then we hooked onto the front, gave it a short tow, and it
started quickly. Mike drove it up the hill into the sagebrush to
see if it had any power, and to see if it would keep running when
it was pulling hard. It seemed to do just fine.

He backed into the old parking place where we could hook
onto it should it need a tow.

He wanted to finish the work he was doing on the bed of the
little pickup. I thought he would be through the job in a couple
of hours, but it turned out to be an all afternoon job.

I put the battery charger on the batteries of the compres—
sor, planning to run it later in the evening.

Around four o‘clock I decided to try starting the tractor
before it cooled off too much, although it was too late already.
It wouldn‘t start, so I put the charger on it for about five
minutes. With the battery still on I cranked the motor. It start-
ed right away, but didn‘t run smoothly. I figured that the idile
jet needed adjusting, and walked over to the little pickup for a
screwdriver. The engine quit before I could get back to it.

I tried starting the tractor engine again, but it wouldn‘t
make one cough. I gave up and decided we would tow it again

tomorrow.
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I went over to the compressor to see if it would start. I
let the starter crank for a short time, then let it rest for a
few minutes. I gave it another try, but there wasn‘t enough Jjuice
in the batteries to turn it over once.

I gave that up, and put the charger on one battery, and
would leave it over night.
17th

Yesterday morning I talked with Ellis on the radio. He said
that quite a few were at the Bird-Refuge tour, mostly from Ore-
gon, but a few from out of state.

There was so much water over the road going to the headquar-
ters that they were turning back cars.

He met Betty Penland. She said that she was going to see her
mother. He asked me what Betty’s maiden name was. I didn‘t know,
but thought that she was from this area.

Later I called Dora and asked her what Betty’s maiden name
was. She didn’t know, but she said that Betty was a California
girl, she and John Henry were married down there.

Today is Dora‘s birthday. She is seventy-eight the same age
I am. She has two friends who have the same birthday, and every
year they celebrate their birthdays together. This time one of
them couldn’t make on the seventeenth, so they will have it on

the eighteenth.
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This morning it began raining around eight-thirty. At nine
o‘clock I put a can under the drain pipe of the ore bin, and
caught one half gallon of water before the rain quit at nine-
thirty.

I made an apple pie, since the weather wasn‘t suitable for
working outside.

I made a gasket for the replacement coil on the tractor in
anticipation that the rain would stop, and the ground would be
dry enough to work on the tractor.

Around noon I got the coil onto the tractor and turned the

engine over a few times to see if it would start. It coughed
once, and might have started, but I didn‘t have the gas turned
on. The battery was run down quite a bit. I came down to the
furnace room and got an extension cord and the charger. Before I
could get the charger hooked up, Mike came out. I told him that
the coil was on, and that when I cranked the motor the needle on
the ammeter moved more than it had been lately.
He said, "Maybe it will start if we give it a tow." The chain was
still hooked up, so Mike got on the tractor. I made half a turn
around the power pole towing him, and the motor started up, but
soon quit.

I remembered that the gas hadn‘t been turn on, and told Mike
about it. After he turned on the gas, he used the starter, and

the motor took right off.
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Mike said, "It seems to be nissing on one cylinder.#

“Oh," I said, "I had a wire off one of the spark plugs.¥

I got a pair of pliers with insulated handlies, and put the
wire onto the plug. In the process a long blue arcs Jjumped from
the were to the plug. It showed that the spark was much hotter
than it was before.

Mike was ready to put on the blade, and make a pass down the
road. While putting on the blade he shut off the engine. After
the blade was on, the engine started readily. He drove down to
the gas house, filled the tank, and again the engine started
right off.

He went down the hill. The engine seemed to run fine. 1 got
a bucket ready to put diesel o0il in the compressor. I put the
charger on one of the batteries. I spent some time looking for a
funnel, which I didn’t find, then it started raining.

Later over the microphone I heard Mike arrive at the point.
The tractor engine sounded good.
18th

The low last night was thirty-four, and the high today was
fifty-three. At six this evening it was forty-two. There were
showers all day. Mike drove the little pickup down for the mail

during a rain shower.
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This morning Mike used the half-inch drili. The switch
didn‘t work good, and he barely got the hole drilled. He said I
might look at it if I had time.

1 spent the whole morning on it. I found that it would run
fine in reverse, but not in forward. We wouid need a new switch.
At first it would work intermittently, so I was reluctant to take
it apart, because we might be able to use it in an emergency. But
when it quit altogether in the forward position, I figured I
couldn‘t do any damage.

1 drew a diagram, or a picture, of where the different
colored wires went, then pulled the wires off. Next I pried up
the clamps that held it together. I was prepared to catch any
springs that might come flying out, and was surprised that there
were no springs or loose parts to fall out.

Actually it turned out that I was removing only the part of
the switch that reverses the drill. There was another section
that contained the main switch with a spring. The moving poles of
the switch were near the end of a plastic rod that fitted into a
cylinder that held the stationary poles. It was constructed in
such a manner that it would go into the cylinder in four differ-
ent position. I decided to turn the contacts one-hundred and
eighty degrees, and thus use the reversing contacts to run the

motor in the forward direction.
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When 1 finalily got everything together, and the switch
installed, I found that the driiil would run fine in the forward
and backward both. I had assumed that it wouldn‘t run in reverse,
but it did. Also the position of the indicator for forward and
reverse was normali.

We will send for a new switch using the number given in the
parts manual.

I thought I heard Ellis check into the Oregon Emergency Net
mobile in Reno. His signal was too weak for a QSO.

I called Dora tonight. Jimmy drove her to Burns yesterday.
They brought Pat and Nelliie home. The road was in fair condition,
and the weather was fine.

I got a letter off to Oma telling her that Carl wanted her
to put in for Sheep and Antelope tags, and to get two universal
joints for the jeep.
19th

There were snow showers all day. The temperature got up to
forty-two, so the snow melited as fast as it hit the ground. we
stayed inside mostly because of the wind.

I made two pies this morning.

Around twelve-thirty cClinton H. Jenson, the Weather Bureau
manager for the cooperative in this district, showed up. He gave
me the fifteen-year award for weather service.

He visited for a while, and had a piece of apple pie.
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Later the new manager for the BLM in the district knocked on
the door. His name is Dean Durfee. He seemed 1ike a neighboriy
man who wants to get acquainted with the people in his district.
He ate a piece of the apple with a cup of coffee.

Tonight one pie and one piece out the other is gone.
20th

It was cold this morning with some wind. The sky was clear.

I couldn’t hear the weather net. There were no signal any-
where on the eighty meter band.

Mike dug at the back of the furnace room to make enough room
to allow the whole building to be pulled in that direction at the
at the top. The building has been leaning more and more toward
the front, because of the pressure of the earth behind it.

Around ten-thirty, while I was mopping the floor, some
people showed up. One man said that he was up here last year, and
now had his wife and son, and a friend with him. His wife, Fay,
said that she had sent the story in the Oregonian to their son,
Tom in Alaska. He and a friend, Debbie are geologists, and are
down here on a visit.

Fay and Neil Smith live in Burns. We gave them the grand
tour.

After they had gone Mike ate his lunch, then headed down the

hill with the tractor to make a pass at the road with the bilade.
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talk about the peanut brittle, because that would be about busi-
ness which wasn’t allowed on amateur radio.

Vance was net control on the net tonight. I asked him if the
weather net was on the air this morning. He answered that it was,
but the members had a hard time hearing one another. I told him
that I couldn’t hear the net at all, but failed to mention that
the whole eighty-meter band was dead.
21st

The low last night was thirty-three. This morning the sun
came out bright, and the air was calm. It seemed like a Spring
day. The temperature was up to forty-four by eight o‘clock, at
which time a breeze from the west made it seem cooler.

Mike went out early to remove earth from the back of the
furnace roomn.

George called, and we talked for half an hour. Lois is in
Lansing getting the house there ready for a renter. She is remov-
ing all the furniture, except some pieces that the leesor would
like to use. A friend is hauling the furniture down to Florida
for her.

George doesn‘t yet know whether or not Lois is going to
bring Harry home.

I was busy inside until eleven o‘clock. I fried some pork

steaks, and left them on a platter to be eaten at any time.
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I hiked up to the big rock on the hog back, going in my
shirtsieeves. On the slope I saw a yellow flower that I decided
was a Yellow Dwarf Yarrow, and thought I would bring it back with
me on the way down.

From the big rock I could see the layout over toward Mickey
Hot Springs. I could see no way for the water on the desert to
run passed the springs. There was a small-dry-liake bed with what
looked like water running across the center of it. Some people
seeing this playa from the road a few miles away thought it was
running water. A young couple observing it from a high point ten
miles away thought it was a lake.

Later today I talked with Carl who has been up that way on
his motorcycle. He said that there is no way for the desert water
to drain out to the north. Maybe Stella is mistaken.

After lunch I went out to work on the tractor intending to
set the timing a little faster according to Mike‘s idea that the
engine heats up because the spark is too slow.

However, the engine wouldn‘t start. 1 came down to get the
battery charger to put on the battery, then got to thinking that
I should do something about the hard-to-move adjustment plate. I
would have to remove the distributor again.

I put the charger on the battery, and removed the distribu-

tor. I found that the gasket had leaked o0il onto the wires where
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they were plugged into the cap. Maybe this had something to do
with the hard starting.

Anyway, I cleaned the cap, removed the breaker plate, and
cleaned and sanded the surface that had to move when adjusting
the timing. I set the marks on the adjusting plate to the center
mark before installing the distributor.

The installation took longer than it should have, because of
the lack of room to work and maneuver the thing into place.

I did make a new gasket to replace the one that let oil get
out.

Mike helped me. Once he held the distributor in place while
I turned the rotor until it fitted in the slot properly. But I
had to loosen the bolts and try again, because the rotor was
binding when I tightened the bolts.

Carl came around and offered to help, but there was no room
for two to work.

The fitting that went on the end of the wires wasn‘t up to
par, and I spent time trying to put on a replacement. I needed a
special crimper for the job, but I finally got all the wires
connected to the cap.

I carefully checked everything, making sure the fan belt was
on properly, and making sure there was nothing in the way of the
fan before 1 started the engine. I started promptly without

trouble.
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Mike said he would drive down to Indian Creek, and give it a
workout to see if it would get hot. Carl and I heard him when he
got to the creek. We heard him for a long time, and wondered why
he wasn’t coming back up the hill. We went over to the cliff, and
looked down. He was nowhere to be seen, although we could hear
the tractor running.

Finally Carl spotted him at the top of the hill on the other
side of the creek. He was coming back down. The engine sounded
like it was running fine.

The mosquitoes were bothering us, so we got into the cab of
the truck to wait for mike. He came up to the point and stopped,
saying that the tractor started boiling when he got part way up
the hilil.

Mike still thinks the timing is too slow. But Carl and I
think that it may be that the water pump isn‘t working properly.
23rd

The day was cool with a brisk wind from the west. Mike
worked digging the earth away from the back wall of the furnace
room. He ran into a layer of hard pan which added to the diffi-
culity of the job.

I worked on the tractor trying to adjust the govener. The
rod going from the govener to the carburetor was too long. The

only to shorten it was by putting two bends in it.
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To work on the linkage I removed the generator. Even with
the rod shortened to the right length, the govener didn‘t work
properly, and I couldn’t see how to correct the troubie.

Last night the power went off at nine ofclock, so we went to
bed early. The day had been warm so my bedroom was still warm. I
didn‘t need the electric blanket.

Yesterday Carl was up, and helped me take the fan beit off
the tractor. It was badly warn, and could have been slipping on
the pulley.

Carl said, "I‘m going to town tomorrow, and I‘ll get a new
one. ¥

This afternoon he came up with the belt, nine dolilars and
thirty-six cents. I put it on, and Mike drove it around across
Indian Creek, and up the hill and back. He said, "It started
boiling again.¥

He wasn’t feeling good, and thought he was low on blood
sugar. He headed back down to the dugout.

I set the timing control up a notch or two, and started the
engine. It didn‘t start as readily as it did before.

Tomorrow we‘ll try it again. Carl went back home.

Tonight, since we didn‘t build a fire in the stove, I made
some cookies to keep warm.

I called Dora to see if she knew what caused the power

outage. She hadn‘t been able to find out.
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I talked with Ellis on the radio tonight. He said that he
would check on the road going to Bend to see if there really was
eighteen inches of water on the road.

He will be down this way next week with a class from the
Aloha High School. He has tentative plans of riding horseback up
to the head of Pike Creek this week.

Sunday we gave Carl some pea, beet, and carrot seed. He
planted them in the afternoon.
29th

John Scharff was in the hospital a few days. He had some
chest pains, and went in for a checkup.

Mike has finished digging at the back of the furnace room,
and has pulled the building back to a somewhat upright position.
29th

I got up at six~thirty this morning, which makes it two
hours earlier than usual, because it is now daylight-